HEALTH INSURANCE AND MANAGED CARE (B) COMMITTEE

Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee Dec. 15, 2021, Minutes

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Dec. 2, 2021, Minutes (Attachment One)

No Surprises Act Consumer Document (Attachment One-A)

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Oct. 20, 2021, E-Vote Minutes (Attachment Two)

Health Care Reform Frequently Asked Questions Document (Two-A)

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Oct. 14, 2021, Minutes (Attachment Three)

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Aug. 24, 2021, Minutes (Attachment Four)

Health Innovations (B) Working Group Dec. 11, 2021, Minutes (Attachment Five)

Health Innovations (B) Working Group Nov. 2, 2021, Minutes (Attachment Six)

Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee 2022 Proposed Charges (Attachment Seven)

Contents

Draft: 12/28/21

Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee San Diego, California December 15, 2021

The Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee met in San Diego, CA, Dec. 15, 2021. The following Committee members participated: Jon Godfread, Chair (ND); Jessica K. Altman, Vice Chair (PA); Lori K. Wing-Heier (AK); Michael Conway (CO); John F. King (GA); Dean L. Cameron (ID); Kathleen A. Birrane (MD); Anita G. Fox (MI); Grace Arnold (MN); Russell Toal (NM); Glen Mulready (OK); Andrew R. Stolfi (OR); Jonathan T. Pike (UT); Mike Kreidler (WA); and Allan L. McVey represented by Tonya Gillespie (WV). Also participating were: Elizabeth Perri (AS); Ricardo Lara (CA); Frank Pyle (DE); Michelle B. Santos (GU); Doug Ommen and Andria Seip (IA); Vicki Schmidt (KS); Carter Lawrence (TN); and Jeff Rude (WY).

1. Adopted its Summer National Meeting Minutes

Superintendent Toal made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Stolfi, to adopt the Committee's Aug. 16 minutes (see NAIC Proceedings – Summer 2021, Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee). The motion passed unanimously.

2. Adopted its Subgroup, Working Group, and Task Force Reports

Commissioner Pike made a motion, seconded by Superintendent Toal, to adopt the following reports: 1) the Consumer Information (B) Subgroup, including its Dec. 2 (Attachment One), Oct. 20 (Attachment Two), Oct. 14 (Attachment Three), and Aug. 24 (Attachment Four) minutes; 2) the Health Innovations (B) Working Group, including its Dec. 11 (Attachment Five) and Nov. 2 (Attachment Six) minutes; 3) the Health Actuarial (B) Task Force; 4) the Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force; and 5) the Senior Issues (B) Task Force. The motion passed unanimously.

3. Adopted its 2022 Proposed Charges

Commissioner Godfread said the Committee's 2022 proposed charges were posted on the Committee's web page and exposed for a public comment period ending Dec. 1. He said the Committee received no comments. Superintendent Toal made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Birrane, to adopt the Committee's 2022 proposed charges (Attachment Seven). The motion passed unanimously.

4. Adopted its Task Forces' 2022 Proposed Charges

Commissioner Godfread said prior to the call, NAIC staff distributed the 2022 proposed charges for the Health Actuarial (B) Task Force, the Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force, and the Senior Issues (B) Task Force. The Health Actuarial (B) Task Force adopted its 2022 proposed charges during its Sept. 14 meeting. The Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force adopted its 2022 proposed charges during its Nov. 9 meeting. The Senior Issues (B) Task Force adopted its 2022 proposed charges during its Oct. 6 meeting.

Commissioner Mulready made a motion, seconded by Director Fox, to adopt the 2022 proposed charges for the Health Actuarial (B) Task Force, the Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force, and the Senior Issues (B) Task Force (see NAIC Proceedings – Fall 2021, Executive (EX) Committee and Plenary, Attachment Four). The motion passed unanimously.

5. Heard an Update from the CCIIO

Jeff Wu (Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight—CCIIO) provided an update on the Biden administration's current and future activities of interest to the Committee. He discussed the status of the 2022 open enrollment period noting a strong volume of enrollment both in the marketplace plans through HealthCare.gov and the state marketplaces. He highlighted the Biden administration's \$80 million in grants for outreach and enrollment assistance provided to assisters and navigators to assist consumers in their 2022 open enrollment plan selections. He also said approximately 2.8 million people enrolled in marketplace plans during the special enrollment period (SEP). He said approximately 2.1 million people have enrolled in federal marketplace plans, and approximately 700,000 enrolled in state-based exchange plans. He said these enrollments are in addition to the approximately 82 million people enrolled in Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP). He discussed the Biden administration's plans for unwinding the process and preparing for the end of the COVID-19 public health emergency to smoothly transition people from Medicaid and CHIP to other forms of coverage. He

said the CCIIO is working with its fellow centers, particularly the federal Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services (CMCS), and exploring all available options to limit coverage gaps and coverage losses for those consumers who will be going through the redetermination process. He noted that the NAIC and state insurance regulators will play a huge role in this process. He encouraged state insurance regulators to reach out to the CCIIO with any suggestions and concerns related to this unwinding process.

Mr. Wu discussed the CCIIO's efforts related to the implementation and enforcement of the federal No Surprises Act (NSA), including the issuance of several sets of interim final and proposed rules. He highlighted the CCIIO's creation of an NSA website with focus pages for specific stakeholders, such as providers and consumers. He said the CCIIO recognizes the need for extensive outreach and education to stakeholders about the NSA's provisions and its consumer protections and responsibilities.

Mr. Wu said the CCIIO recognizes that the states are in different positions as far as enforcement when the NSA becomes effective Jan. 1, 2022. He discussed how the federal agencies charged with implementing the NSA can work together with the states to address any implementation and enforcement issues. He said the CCIIO has held meetings with the states to discuss NSA enforcement and has begun sending out letters to the states outlining whether the federal agencies or the states will be responsible for enforcing which provisions of the NSA.

Mr. Wu said despite the necessary focus on the NSA and its implementation, the CCIIO is continuing its work with the states on implementation and enforcement of the provisions of the federal Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 (CAA), which amended the federal Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act (MHPAEA) to provide important new protections. He also noted the concerns state insurance regulators have had and have discussed with the CCIIO related to producer and plan marketing and enrollment practices.

Mr. Wu highlighted Kentucky, Maine, and New Mexico's successful transition from federal marketplaces to full state-based marketplaces for 2022. He noted that these transitions create great opportunities for these states to have really focused specific programs for their residents. He also said the federal Affordable Care Act's (ACA's) section 1332 waiver program is still available and open for state applicants interested in pursuing new waivers that expand coverage and access; in particular, waivers that have a focus on underserved populations. He said the CCIIO plans to distribute approximately another \$450 million to support the efforts of 14 states that have existing section 1332 waivers.

Mr. Wu said in addition to these initiatives, the federal Centers of Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) plans to focus on issues related to health equity as part of its work. He said such health disparities have particularly come to light with the COVID-19 public health emergency. However, he noted that the federal government cannot work on these issues alone, and it needs the help of all stakeholders to address these issues. He highlighted Colorado's essential health benefit benchmark initiative, which the CMS approved earlier this year. He explained that this new benchmark plan is intended to promote access to coverage for gender affirming care by discouraging the use of a one-size-fits-all framework for transgender persons. He said this initiative is a great example of the important and innovative work the states can do. He said the CCIIO is open to engaging other states regarding these types of and other important and innovative initiatives that a state feels is appropriate for their residents.

Commissioner Altman noted that NSA implementation starts Jan. 1, 2022. She asked Mr. Wu about his thoughts on how the states and the CCIIO can work together to share information on any issues that arise as NSA implementation begins. Mr. Wu said he believes implementing the NSA will be a different and more challenging process than what has occurred before, such as the process for implementing the ACA. He said he believes it will be a gradual, ongoing process. He said particularly in the early months of implementation, communication with stakeholders will be key. He noted the current education and outreach efforts the CCIIO is conducting, particularly with providers.

Commissioner Conway said as one of the states that had a balance billing law prior to the NSA's enactment, Colorado has been examining ways to align its law with the NSA to streamline provisions and make the implementation and enforcement process as efficient and effective for stakeholders—health care providers, consumers, and hospitals—as possible. He said one of the areas Colorado is finding it difficult to align relates to the arbitration process, particularly in a situation when a provider enters into the federal independent dispute resolution (IDR) process, but later it is determined that the plan involved is state regulated. Upon discovery of this, the provider is kicked out of the federal IDR process and referred to the state IDR process. He acknowledged that Mr. Wu most likely has no immediate answer to his concern. He urged the CCIIO to keep this issue in mind; and as NSA implementation moves forward, the CCIIO should consider and explore ways to address this issue, including allowing in such situations, a state-regulated plan to use the federal IDR process and having the arbitrators follow state law

requirements to conduct the IDR. Mr. Wu acknowledged the potential operational complexity of Commissioner Conway's suggestion, but he agreed that it would be worthwhile to discuss this issue further in the future.

Commissioner Kreidler asked Mr. Wu when the proposed federal Notice of Benefit and Payment Parameters for 2022 rules would be released. Mr. Wu noted that the CCIIO's timing for releasing the rules in the past has been challenging for stakeholders to incorporate all its requirements. He said the CCIIO hopes to release the proposed rules by the end of the year or shortly thereafter.

Commissioner Godfread reiterated the NAIC's and state insurance regulators' commitment to work with the CCIIO and other federal agencies regarding NSA implementation. He said he anticipates that this collaboration and Committee discussions on the NSA will continue in the coming year.

6. Discussed the Committee's NSA Consumer and Provider Outreach Materials

Commissioner Godfread said at the Committee's meeting during the Summer National Meeting, the Committee discussed developing consumer-facing and provider-facing outreach and education materials on the NSA to assist state insurance departments in educating and reaching out to consumers, providers, and insurers about the NSA, prior to its Jan. 1, 2022, starting date. He said based on that discussion, NAIC staff prepared a template that state departments of insurance (DOIs) can tailor to their needs to educate and inform providers in their state about their responsibilities under the NSA for plans starting in 2022. He also said based on those Committee discussions, the Consumer Information (B) Subgroup developed a consumer-facing document tailored to educate consumers on the NSA and the new protections it offers for balance bills. The Subgroup discussed and approved that document during a meeting on Dec. 2. Commissioner Godfread asked the Committee if it believes any additional materials would be needed at this time, such as specific materials for insurers. After discussion, the Committee decided that the current materials were sufficient and could also be used as part of a state DOI's education and outreach to insurers.

7. Heard a Presentation from the KFF on Findings from the 2021 EHBS

Gary Claxton (Kaiser Family Foundation—KFF) and Matthew Rae (KFF) provided a summary overview of the findings from the KFF's 2021 Employer Health Benefits Survey (EHBS). For the 2021 survey, the KFF revised it to ask about changes employers and health plans made to address potential issues and uncertainties related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Mr. Claxton said one expected finding related to this issue was an increase by some employers in the use of telemedicine to provide some health care services. He said many employers have also taken steps to assist employees and family members with the stress caused by the COVID-19 pandemic by offering enhanced mental and behavioral health benefits. Employers have also made changes to their health promotion and wellness programs. Mr. Claxton highlighted another survey finding; i.e., the increase in the number of small employers offering level-funded premium plans. He explained that these arrangements combine a relatively small self-funded component with stop-loss insurance, which limits the employer's liability to low attachment points that transfer a substantial share of the risk to insurers.

Mr. Claxton noted that health insurance coverage remains expensive; but generally, over the past few years, premiums and annual deductibles have remained steady or flat. He said the survey also found that the level of employee cost-sharing has remained flat after previous years of increases. He suggested that this may be due to employers not wanting to make drastic plan changes because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Commissioner Godfread explained that the reason the Committee invited the KFF to discuss its 2021 EHBS survey findings was because the Committee over the past few years has focused its discussion on the individual market and individual health plans. He said it is also important for the Committee to understand what is happening in the employer market, particularly the small employer market. He encouraged Committee members to view the full 2021 EBHS report on the KFF's website.

Commissioner Altman noted that as Mr. Claxton stated, although the level of employee cost-sharing has leveled off over the past few years, prior to that level of employee cost-sharing, particularly with respect to deductibles, it has increased over the years. She asked Mr. Claxton if he could discuss empirically or anecdotally about how the current state of coverage in the small group market from a generosity and affordability perspective compares to the individual market taking into consideration the provisions of the federal American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA) focusing on lowering the cost of premium for individuals obtaining coverage through the health insurance marketplaces. Mr. Claxton discussed options small employers might take to make coverage more affordable, including not offering coverage, particularly if the employees have lower incomes and can obtain coverage through the health insurance marketplaces and the use of level-funded plans. With respect to level-funded premium plans, Mr. Claxton explained that these plans might have less generous benefits than ACA-compliant plans because

they are not subject to the ACA's essential health benefit requirements and mental health parity requirements. These plans would also probably be more affordable because they are medically underwritten as well. Mr. Claxton said it is important for state insurance regulators to be aware of these potential trends in the small group market and any possible impact of these types of plans being offered in the small group market versus the plans being offered in the ACA-compliant market.

8. Received an Update on the Special (EX) Committee on Race and Insurance Workstream Five's Work

Commissioner Altman and Commissioner Lara, co-chairs of the Special (EX) Committee on Race and Insurance Workstream Five, provided an update to the Committee on Workstream Five's work to date. Commissioner Altman said since the Workstream's last update, it met Dec. 3, Nov. 18, Oct. 14, Sept. 9, and Aug. 26. She said most of these meetings focused on the Workstream's work related to its "Principles for Data Collection" document. She said during its Dec. 3 meeting, the Workstream almost completed its work on the document. The Workstream plans to meet Dec. 20 to consider final revisions to the document and, if finalized, forward it document to the Special Committee for its consideration.

Commissioner Lara said in addition to the Workstream's work on the "Principles for Data Collection" document, during some of the other meetings, the Workstream discussed a draft outline for its proposed white paper on provider networks, provider directories, and cultural competency, and it exposed it for a public comment period ending Nov. 8. He said the Workstream anticipates holding a meeting early next year to discuss the comments received and assign Workstream members to begin drafting sections of the proposed white paper.

Having no further business, the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee adjourned.

B Cmte Dec 15 minutes

Draft: 12/8/21

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Virtual Meeting December 2, 2021

The Consumer Information (B) Subgroup of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee met Dec. 2, 2021. The following Subgroup members participated: Mary Kwei, Chair, Patricia Dorn, and Paul Meyer (MD); Debra Judy, Vice Chair, Jill Mullen, and Tara Smith (CO); William Rodgers and Yada Horace, and Anthony L. Williams (AL); Michele MacKenzie, Shannon Hohl, Kathy McGill (ID); Ryan Gillespie (IL); Jenifer Groth, Alex Peck, and Kim van Rooy (IN); LeAnn Crow and Brenda Johnson (KS); Tricia Hearth, Gregory Maus, and Maybeth Moses (MN); Cynthia Amann, Carrie Couch, Amy Hoyt, Jo LeDuc, and Jessica Schrimpf (MO); Kathy Shortt (NC); Maggie Reinert (NE); Cuc Nguyen and Rebecca Ross (OK); Elizabeth Hart and Lars Thorne (PA); Gretchen Brodkorb (SD); Stephanie Cope, Scott McAnally, Jennifer Ramcharan, and Vickie Trice (TN); Heidi Clausen, Jaakob Sundberg, and Shelley Wiseman (UT); and Barbara Belling, Eric Cormany, Monica Hale, Christina Keeley, Rebecca Rebholz, Jennifer Stegall, Jody Ullman, and Julie Walsh (WI). Also participating was: Patrick Smock (RI).

1. Adopted a Consumer Brief on Balance Billing

Ms. Kwei brought up the consumer brief "New Protections Against Surprise Medical Bills" (Attachment One-A). She thanked the Subgroup members who had drafted the document and contributed edits. She said state insurance departments could use the document as a template and insert their own language regarding any state laws on balance billing or make other changes.

The Subgroup discussed the template. Kris Hathaway (America's Health Insurance Plans—AHIP) suggested including something about the requirement that providers produce an estimate of costs when they ask a consumer to waive balance billing protections. Brenda J. Cude (University of Georgia) provided a statement on this requirement that the Subgroup decided to include. Ms. Cude asked about the use of the terms "hospitalist" and intensivist." Some Subgroup members said the terms are not understandable for consumers, and others said they are important to include because federal regulations specifically prohibit waiver of balance bills from these professionals. The Subgroup decided to add brief parenthetical explanations of the terms.

Subgroup members further decided to update language about plans' coverage of out-of-network providers and to clarify that surprise bills are unexpected balance bills.

Ms. Brodkorb made a motion, seconded by Ms. McGill, to adopt the template with the changes agreed to during the meeting. The motion passed unanimously.

Having no further business, the Consumer Information (B) Subgroup adjourned.

Con Info 12.2.21 Min

New Protections from Surprise Medical Bills

You may have heard stories from friends or in the news about balance bills or surprise bills from health care providers. Starting in 2022, a new law will protect you from many types of surprise bills. Here are the basics about the new protections and some examples of how they can protect consumers.

What is balance billing?

Balance billing happens when a health care provider (a doctor, for example) bills a patient after the patient's health insurance company has paid its share of the bill. The balance bill is for the difference between the provider's charge and the price the insurance company set, after the patient has paid any copays, coinsurance, or deductibles.

Balance billing can happen when a patient receives covered health care services from an out-of-network provider or an out-of-network facility (a hospital, for example).

In-network providers agree with an insurance company to accept the insurance payment in full, and don't balance bill. Out-of-network providers don't have this same agreement with insurers.

Some health plans, such as Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) or Point of Service (POS) plans, include some coverage for out-of-network care, but the provider may still balance bill the patient if state or federal protections don't apply. Other plans don't include coverage for out-of-network services and the patient is responsible for all of the costs of out-of-network care. Medicare and Medicaid have their own protections against balance billing.

What is surprise billing?

Surprise billing happens when a patient receives an unexpected balance bill after they receive care from an out-of-network provider or at an out-of-network facility, such as a hospital. It can happen for both emergency and non-emergency care. Typically, patients don't know the provider or facility is out-of-network until they receive the bill.

Some states have laws or regulations that protect patients against surprise billing. However, state laws generally don't apply to self-insured health plans, and most people who get coverage through an employer are in self-insured health plans. Now, a new federal law protects consumers in self-insured health plans as well as consumers in states that don't have their own protections.

What protections are in place?

A new federal law, the No Surprises Act, protects you from:

- Surprise bills for covered emergency out-of-network services, including air ambulance services (but not ground ambulance services), and
- Surprise bills for covered non-emergency services at an in-network facility.

The law applies to health insurance plans starting in 2022. It applies to the self-insured health plans that employers offer as well as plans from health insurance companies.

- A facility (such as a hospital or freestanding emergency room (ER)) or a provider (such as a doctor) may not bill you
 more than your in-network coinsurance, copays, or deductibles for emergency services, even if the facility or
 provider is out-of-network.
- If your health plan requires you to pay copays, coinsurance, and/or deductibles for in-network care, you're responsible for those.
- The new law also protects you when you receive non-emergency services from out-of-network providers (such as an anesthesiologist) at in-network facilities. An out-of-network provider may not bill you more than your in-network copays, coinsurance, or deductibles for covered services performed at an in-network facility.

- You can never be asked to waive your protections and agree to pay more for out-of-network care at an innetwork facility for care related to emergency medicine, anesthesiology, pathology, radiology, or neonatology—or for services provided by assistant surgeons, hospitalists (doctors who focus on care of hospitalized patients), and intensivists (doctors who care for patients needing intensive care), or for diagnostic services including radiology and lab services.
- O You still can agree in advance to be treated by an out-of-network provider in some situations, such as when you choose an out-of-network surgeon knowing the cost will be higher. The provider must give you information in advance about what your share of the costs will be. If you did that, you'd be expected to pay the balance bill as well as your out-of-network coinsurance, deductibles, and copays.

What else should I know?

- Your health plan and the facilities and providers that serve you must send you a notice of your rights under the new law
- If you've received a surprise bill that you think isn't allowed under the new law, you can file an appeal with your insurance company or ask for an external review of the company's decision. You also can file a complaint with the [State Insurance Commissioner] or the federal Department of Health and Human Services.
- An independent dispute resolution (IDR) process, or another process your state sets up, is available to settle bills.
 Providers and insurance companies can use this process to settle disputes about your bill without putting you in the middle. A similar dispute resolution process is available for individuals who are uninsured, in certain circumstances, such as when the actual charges are much higher than the estimated charges.
- Other protections in the new law require insurance companies to keep their provider directories updated. They also
 must limit your copays, coinsurance, or deductibles to in-network amounts if you rely on inaccurate information in a
 provider directory.
- You can get more information and make complaints to federal agencies by calling 1-800-985-3059.

See the next page for examples of how the No Surprises Act protections apply.

Examples of Surprise Bill Protections

- Q. Deion fell off a ladder, hitting his head and breaking his arm. He was taken to the nearest emergency room. He needed covered imaging and radiology services as well as surgery. Now bills are starting to come in. What is he responsible for paying? How can he get help if he's receiving bills that don't match the explanation of benefits (EOB) from his health insurance plan?
- A. For emergency care he received, Deion is only responsible for paying his in-network deductibles, copays, and coinsurance, even if health care providers who were not in his plan network treated him or he was taken to a facility that was out-of-network. If the bills don't match his explanation of benefits (EOB), Deion can call his health insurer first. If he isn't satisfied with the insurer's response, he can contact [insert state agency].

If Deion is admitted to the hospital after he receives care in the emergency room, he should know that any out-of-network health care providers at the facility may ask him to consent to continuing care and to agree to pay higher amounts. They can only ask for his consent to receive out-of-network care once he is stabilized, able to understand the information about his care and out-of-pocket costs, and it is safe to travel to an in-network facility using non-emergency transportation. If those conditions are met, Deion can decide if he wants to continue with the out-of-network provider, or travel to a provider who participates in his health plan's network. If he stays with the out-of-network provider and consents to out-of-network billing, he'll be responsible for any out-of-network deductibles, copays, or coinsurance. He'll also be responsible for the amount the provider charges that is more than what the insurance company pays (the balance bill).

- Q. Bill had chest pains and went to his local hospital's emergency room. The doctors there said he had to be transported to a hospital in a major city for full treatment and he had to go by air ambulance to make it in time. Bill was flown to the larger hospital and is now doing well. Bill's wife, Nancy, has heard scary stories about air ambulance costs and is starting to worry. Are there any protections for someone who is transported by air ambulance in an emergency?
- A. If the air ambulance company has an in-network contract with Bill's health insurance plan, then Bill will only have to pay the in-network deductibles, coinsurance, or copays. The air ambulance company will accept their contracted amount as payment in full.

Starting in 2022, the new federal No Surprises Act protects patients even if the air ambulance company doesn't have an innetwork contract with their health insurance plan. Bill will only have to pay the deductibles, copays, or coinsurance that he would have to pay if the air ambulance were in-network. Federal law will help the air ambulance and the health insurance companies determine how to pay the rest of the bill.

- Q. Elena is scheduled for a biopsy, a service that her health plan covers. Her hospital and surgeon are in-network with her health plan, but the hospital uses anesthesiologists and pathologists that are not in-network. Does this mean everything will be covered as in-network, or could Elena have some unexpected charges?
- A. Surgery for a biopsy can involve health care providers that you don't get to choose, such as an anesthesiologist and a pathologist. Starting in 2022, when Elena chooses an in-network facility and surgeon for her procedure, all of her out-of-pocket costs will be at the in-network rate. That includes the costs for any out-of-network providers she didn't choose who participate in her care.
- Q. Hannah changes jobs and her family is covered under a new employer health plan. Hannah and her husband's doctors are in-network with the new company, but their child's pediatrician is not. How can they find an in-network pediatrician? Can they rely on the online provider directory for accurate information?
- A. Hannah can review her new health plan's online provider directory or call the insurance company to get information. An insurance company may have different networks for different health plans. It's important to look at the directory for your specific health plan.

Most people rely on their health plan to give them accurate information about in-network health care providers. [States may insert protections in their laws.]

Starting in 2022, federal law requires health care providers to update their information with insurance companies when there is a change. In turn, insurance companies must verify that the information in their provider directories is complete.

Attachment One-A Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee 12/15/21

If Hannah calls the insurance company to ask for a list of in-network pediatricians, the insurance company has one business day to give her a list. If Hannah relies on inaccurate information from the insurance company that a provider is in-network, then Hannah will be responsible only for the in-network deductibles, copays, or coinsurance.

Surprise Medical Bills Document

Draft: 10/29/21

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup E-Vote October 20, 2021

The Consumer Information (B) Subgroup of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee conducted an e-vote that concluded Oct. 20, 2021. The following Subgroup members participated: Mary Kwei, Chair (MD); Debra Judy, Vice Chair (CO); Anthony L. Williams (AL); Michelle Baldock (IL); LeAnn Crow (KS); Judith Watters (ME); Carrie Couch (MO); Laura Arp (NE); Cuc Nguyen (OK); Jill Kruger (SD); Vickie Trice (TN); and Jennifer Steagall (WI).

1. Adopted Updates to "Frequently Asked Questions About Health Care Reform"

The Subgroup conducted an e-vote to consider adoption of a revised and updated version of "Frequently Asked Questions about Health Care Reform" (Attachment Two-A). The motion passed unanimously.

Con Info 10.20.21 Min

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS ABOUT HEALTH CARE REFORM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEALTH CARE REFORM OVERVIEW	/
Q 1: When did the ACA take effect?	7
Q 2: What changes have taken place?	7
Q 3: Where can a person find more information about the ACA, including detailed timeline information?	8
Q 4: Do the consumer protections of the ACA apply to all health coverage?	8
EXCHANGE BASICS	9
Q 5: What is the [insert name of state health insurance exchange]? (For questions about the [insert name of state SHOP exchange], see Questions 40-44, 46-50, and 69-72)	9
Q 6: Are there different types of health insurance exchanges?	9
Q 7: What is a CO-OP plan?	9
Q 8: If consumers live in one state but work in another, to which state's exchange should they apply?	10
Q 9: Who can buy a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?	10
Q 10: When are consumers able to enroll in plans through the [insert name of state exchange]?	10
Q 11: What if a consumer wants to enroll or change plans outside of the open enrollment period?	10
Q 12: How can a consumer prepare to enroll in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?	11
SHOPPING FOR HEALTH INSURANCE: WHAT IS COVERED?	11
Q 13: What types of plans are available through the [insert name of state exchange]?	11
Q 14: What is actuarial value?	12
Q 15: How do the tiers (bronze, silver, gold, and platinum) help consumers compare plans?	12
Q 16: What services/benefits must plans cover? What are essential health benefits?	12
Q 17: What insurance companies will offer coverage through the [Insert name of state exchange]? How can consumers get a list of companies and plans available?	13
Q 18: How can a consumer find out the details about what a particular plan covers?	13
Q 19: How can consumers compare benefits and understand what a plan covers?	13
Q 20: How can consumers see and compare premiums for plans?	13
Q 21: Can a person or a health insurance issuer take benefits out of a plan? What if a consumer doesn't need all obenefits in a plan?	
Q 22: Can consumers' health conditions affect what coverage they are able to get?	14
Q 23: Can an insurance company charge tobacco users more than non-tobacco users?	14
Q 24: What are preventive benefits and how are they covered?	14
Q 25: Are dental or vision benefits available through the [insert name of state exchange]?	14
Q 26: How does a consumer find out what drugs a plan covers?	15
Q 27: What are out-of-network services, and do consumers have any coverage for them?	15

Q 28: How do consumers determine if their doctor or dentist is in the network?	.16
Q 29: Do consumers have access to emergency care out-of-network?	16
Q 30: What is a "grandfathered" health plan?	16
Q 31: Can consumers keep an existing plan that isn't grandfathered, but doesn't comply with the ACA reforms (known as transitional plans or "grandmothered" plans)?	.17
EMPLOYER-SPONSORED COVERAGE	.17
Q 32: Is employer-based coverage required to cover dependents (spouses and children)?	.17
Q 33: What can a consumer do when employer-based health coverage ends?	.17
Q 34: Must a consumer use all available COBRA coverage before buying coverage through the exchange with subsidies?	.18
Q 35: If a consumer has access to employer-based coverage, can an employer make the consumer wait before becoming eligible for benefits?	.18
Q 36: Can a consumer with access to employer-based coverage get a tax credit to buy a plan through the [insert nan of state exchange]?	
Q 37: If a consumer is offered employer-based coverage that would cover a spouse or dependents, can that consumer's spouse or children get a tax credit to buy coverage through the exchange?	.19
Q 38: What is a health reimbursement arrangement?	.19
Q 39: If a consumer is offered a health reimbursement arrangement, can that consumer get a tax credit to buy coverage through the exchange?	.19
Q 40: What are Health Savings Accounts?	.19
Q 41: When an employee is enrolled in employer-based coverage and in Medicare, is Medicare a primary or secondary payer?	.20
Q 42: What is the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	20
Q 43: Is there a cost to participate in [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	.21
Q 44: Can insurers charge more (or less) for policies sold through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	.21
Q 45: What happens if an employer's staff increases to more than [50] employees in the year after the employer bought coverage through the SHOP?	.21
Q 46: How are small employers defined?	.21
Q 47: How do employers with full-time and part-time employees know whether they're required to pay a penalty if they don't offer health insurance to their workers?	
Q 48: Are health insurers required to sell their plans through the federal SHOP exchange?	.21
Q 49: Are small employers required to buy a health plan for their employees through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	.21
Q 50: Will consumers be better off with individual coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] rather than through the small employer coverage?	
Q 51: Are there participation rates that insurers can require employers to meet to be eligible to buy small group coverage through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] or in the market outside the [insert name of state SHOI exchange]?	

2

Q 52: Can small employers who are the sole employees of their business buy small group coverage either through the linsert name of state SHOP exchange or the outside market?	
Q 53: How does rating work in the small group market?	23
Q 54: Do small employers who don't offer health care insurance coverage to their employees have to pay a tax penalty?	23
Q 55: Do large employers have to offer health care insurance coverage to their employees? What about seasonal employees?	23
Q 56: What are the penalties if large employers don't provide coverage?	24
Q 57: How do small employers find out if they're eligible for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit?	24
Q 58: What ACA requirements apply to large employers?	25
ACA REQUIREMENT TO HAVE BASIC HEALTH CARE COVERAGE (INDIVIDUAL MANDATE)	25
Q 59: What is the individual responsibility requirement, and does it mean consumers must maintain coverage?	25
Q 60: Without a tax penalty, is having minimum essential coverage important?	25
ENROLLING IN HEALTH CARE COVERAGE: WHERE CAN CONSUMERS GET HELP?	
Q 61: Where do consumers go for help to choose and enroll in a plan?	26
Q 62: May consumers directly enroll for coverage through insurers?	
Q 63: How are people who help consumers enroll in health coverage paid?	
Q 64: How can consumers find an insurance agent or broker to help them enroll in a plan?	
Q 65: What are the qualifications required for health insurance agents and brokers to participate in the [insert nan of state exchange]?	ne
Q 66: Where should consumers go if they have a problem enrolling in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?	28
Q 67: Do consumers have to re-enroll annually?	28
Q 68: How do insurance agents and brokers help consumers with enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange]?	29
Q 69: How does a navigator help consumers with enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange]?	29
Q 70: How do in-person assisters or certified application counselors help consumers with enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange]?	29
Q 71: Can small employers use licensed insurance agents or brokers to buy health insurance through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	
Q 72: May small employers use navigators to buy health insurance?	30
Q 73: How can an insurance agent or broker help a small employer participate the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	30
Q 74: What is the benefit of using an insurance agent to enroll in the [insert name of state exchange] or the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?	30
Q 75: Will an insurance agent or broker show consumers all of the plan choices available through the [insert name state exchange]?	
Q 76: Will consumers have to share their personal information, including their tax returns, with an agent or broken navigator, in-person assistance personnel, or certified application counselor?	-

Q 77: Will consumers have to share their account username and password with an insurance agent or broker, navigator, in-person assister, or certified application counselor?	31
Q 78: What help should an insurance agent or broker, navigator, in-person assister, or certified application coun give consumers if they or their dependents are eligible for Medicaid or CHIP?	
Q 79: May an insurance agent or broker continue to work with consumers once they're enrolled in a plan throug [insert name of state exchange]?	,
COSTS AND ASSISTANCE WITH COSTS	32
Q 80: Is there cost-sharing for contraceptives?	32
Q 81: How much do plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange] cost?	32
Q 82: Do plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange] have large out-of-pocket costs?	32
Q 83: Where can consumers inquire to learn if they're eligible for help paying premiums or for Medicaid?	33
Q 84: Is there help for consumers who can't afford coverage?	33
Q 85: Who's eligible for premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions?	33
Q 86: How do premium tax credits to buy coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] work?	33
Q 87: Is an individual who is a victim of domestic abuse and separated (but not divorced) from his or her spouse eligible for subsidies on the exchange?	34
Q 88: If a consumer is eligible for premium tax credits, is there a grace period before a company can terminate the consumer for non-payment of premiums?	
Q 89: What should consumers do if they find themselves enrolled in both exchange coverage with premium tax cand Medicaid, CHIP, or Medicare?	
QUESTIONS ABOUT OTHER TYPES OF COVERAGE	35
Q 90: What is available in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange]?	35
Q 91: What are short-term plans?	35
Q 92: If consumers already have coverage, may they buy separate policies for their children?	35
ACA MEDICARE-RELATED QUESTIONS	36
Q 93: Who should consumers contact with questions about Medicare, Medicare Supplement insurance, or Medic Advantage Plans?	
Q 94: Are people who pay premiums for Medicare Part A able to enroll through the [insert name of exchange]?	36
Q 95: Can a person with ESRD (End Stage Renal Disease) enroll in or stay in an Exchange plan <i>instead</i> of enrolli Medicare?	_
Q 96: If individuals become eligible for Medicare and are already in a QHP, can they stay in their plan?	36
Q 97: Is there anything consumers and their dependents who are already on Medicare and have employer-based coverage need to do because of the ACA?	
Q 98: Is there anything consumers and their dependents who are already on Medicare and have retiree coverage an employer need to do because of the ACA?	
Q 99: Will consumers with Medicare Supplement insurance be affected by the ACA?	37
Q 100: How will consumers' Medicare prescription drug "donut hole" be affected?	37
Q 101: What about long term care (LTC) insurance policies?	

ACA MEDICAID-RELATED QUESTIONS	38
Q 102: Where can consumers find more information about Medicaid?	38
Q 103: Did consumers' eligibility for Medicaid change under the ACA?	38
Q 104: What is the expanded Medicaid eligibility category under the ACA?	38
Q 105: What is the federal poverty level (FPL), and why is it important in the context of health care coverage?	38
Q 106: What benefits are available for childless adults eligible for Medicaid?	38
Q 107: Are undocumented immigrants eligible for Medicaid?	39
Q 108: How do consumers apply for Medicaid?	39
Q 109: Will consumers still need to submit documents to prove their income?	39
COMMON CONCERNS ABOUT HOW THE ACA AFFECTS CONSUMERS	39
Q 110: Does the ACA eliminate private health insurance?	39
Q 111: Does the ACA include rules about insurance premiums?	39
Q 112: Does the ACA address discrimination?	40
Q 113: What are the income tax implications of the ACA?	40
Q 114: Where else can consumers find answers to health insurance questions?	40
Q 115: What does the health plan "accreditation status" information on the exchange website mean?	40
Q 116: What does the health plan "consumer experience" information on the [insert name of state exchange] websi	
Q 117: What appeal rights do consumers have?	41
Q 118: Where do consumers file a complaint for a product sold through the [insert name of state exchange]? What about plans sold in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange]?	
Q 119: If consumers apply for coverage in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange], what are the rule regarding open and special enrollment?	
QUESTIONS INVOLVING SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND POPULATIONS	41
Q 120: What is available for consumers with chronic conditions? Does the ACA help them get better coverage?	41
Q 121: What options are there for consumers with children who aren't citizens or legal residents?	42
Q 122: Are immigrants not legally present eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or for premium tax credits?	42
Q 123: Are incarcerated people eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or for premium tacredits?	
Q 124: Are tribal members eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or for premium tax credits?	42
QUESTIONS ABOUT MLR	42
Q 125: What is the Medical Loss Ratio (MLR) requirement?	42
Q 126: What is an MLR Rebate?	42
Q 127: How can consumers learn if their insurer paid rebates?	43
QUESTIONS ABOUT WHETHER A PLAN IS LEGITIMATE	43

5

Q 128: Why is this a time to be especially on guard against health insurance fraud?	43
Q 129: Can consumers get help from their current insurance agent or insurance company to buy health insurance coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]?	.43
Q 130: If consumers don't have a relationship with an insurance agent or company, where should they go for help?.	43
Q 131: If someone comes to consumers' homes, calls consumers out of the blue, or sends emails to offer consumers health insurance coverage for a terrific premium, how will consumers know whether the person and the health	
insurance coverage are legitimate?	43

PURPOSE

This document is designed for state insurance departments to use as they give answers to frequently asked questions (FAQ) and guide consumers about their health care choices. This document reflects regulations and guidance received from the federal government as of October 2021 and is subject to change.

This document isn't intended to be given directly to consumers. States will need to modify this document to include state-specific information and terminology. Content in [brackets] must be edited to provide state-specific information. Drafting notes indicate where states may choose to add additional clarity on state policies. While some sections may be useful for direct-to-consumer communications, the document's primary purpose is to give insurance department staff accurate and understandable information to use when they respond to consumer questions about healthcare reform.

Note that the federal Affordable Care Act (ACA) and related regulations refer to "exchanges" that operate in the states, while federal guidance documents refer to these exchanges as "marketplaces." This document uses the term "exchanges." However, some states may decide to follow federal guidance and use the term "marketplaces."

Note, also, that states will need to modify this FAQ if the state has combined the exchange for individuals and families with the Small Business Health Options Program (SHOP) exchange.

HEALTH CARE REFORM OVERVIEW

Health care has changed in many ways as a result of the passage and implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Public Law 111-148 (PPACA), and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, Public Law 111-152). These two laws are collectively known as the ACA.

Q 1: When did the ACA take effect?

The ACA was enacted March 23, 2010.

Q 2: What changes have taken place?

Several changes took place before January 1, 2014:

- Lifetime and annual dollar limits on essential health benefits (EHB) are not allowed. Annual dollar limits on EHB were also phased out by January 1, 2014.
- Consumers are guaranteed certain appeal rights.
- Nearly all adult children up to age 26 are eligible to remain on a parent's health insurance policy, regardless of the child's marital status, financial dependency, enrollment in school, or place of residence.
- Insurers must cover certain preventive services without cost-sharing. (See Question 24.)
- Medical loss ratio (MLR) standards limit how much of premium dollars insurers can spend on administrative expenses.
- Many insurers must use a standardized Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC), which makes it easier to compare
 plans.
- Small businesses that provide health care for employees can apply for a tax credit.
- Persons with Medicare prescription drug coverage receive a rebate to help cover the cost of the "donut hole." For 2022, consumers in a Medicare Part D standard plan no longer face a donut hole, but cost-sharing may vary for other plans.

Several major changes became effective for non-grandfathered individual and small group plans sold or renewed on or after January 1, 2014:

- Plans must include new consumer protections. Health insurers can't deny or refuse to renew coverage because of a
 pre-existing medical condition. They also can't charge a higher premium due to a person's gender or health
 condition.
- Insurers must cover routine medical costs if a person participates in a clinical trial for cancer or other lifethreatening diseases.
- Many, though not all, insurance plans must cover a minimum set of essential health benefits (EHB) and can't put annual dollar limits on these benefits.
- Individuals and families may qualify for financial assistance when they shop in the health insurance exchanges. The American Rescue Plan Act increased the amount of financial assistance and removed the income limit of 400% of the federal poverty limit to qualify for assistance. This change will sunset at the end of 2022 if there is no additional legislation.
- In the small group market, from the period November 15 to December 15 each year, small employers can purchase coverage for their workers for the following year without having to meet minimum participation or minimum contribution requirements.

Note: Plans sold before March 23, 2010 that have had no significant changes are considered "grandfathered" and aren't required to comply with many of these requirements. (See Question 31 on grandfathering.) Additionally, plans sold before January 1, 2014 may—if allowed by the state—continue to be renewed through policy years beginning on or before October 1, 2022 without coming into compliance with certain reforms. (See Question 31 on transitional policies.)

Q 3: Where can a person find more information about the ACA, including detailed timeline information?

For more general and detailed information about the ACA and its key provisions, visit the federal government's website at www.healthcare.gov, or call 1-800-318-2596 (TTY: 1-855-889-4325).

For information about implementation of the ACA in [insert name of state], contact [insert name of state exchange] at [email address] or [xxx-xxx-xxxx].

There are also several other helpful sites and resources for more information about the ACA, including: Kaiser Family Foundation (https://www.commonwealthfund.org/health-care-coverage-and-access); The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (www.rwjf.org); the Georgetown Center on Health Insurance Reforms (https://chir.georgetown.edu/#); and the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (www.healthreformbeyondthebasics.org).

Q 4: Do the consumer protections of the ACA apply to all health coverage?

No, the ACA consumer protections don't apply to all health coverage. The ACA largely established new protections in the individual and small group markets, which includes policies sold through the exchanges in every state. Health coverage sold outside of the individual or small group markets, or that is not considered insurance, may not be required to comply with some or any of these protections.

Consumers may have questions about several types of coverage other than the qualified health plans sold through exchanges.

- Short-term, limited duration insurance. Several protections applicable in the individual market do not apply to short-term, limited duration insurance. However, state law or regulation may add some protections. Because the ACA does not apply, these plans may do any or all of the things in the list below, unless prohibited by state law or regulation:
 - o deny coverage or increase premium due to health status,
 - o exclude essential health benefits,
 - o refuse renewal,
 - o limit coverage of pre-existing conditions,
 - o establish annual or lifetime benefit maximums,
 - o set a yearly out-of-pocket maximum above \$8,700, or
 - o exceed medical loss ratio standards without rebating premium.

- Association health plans. Depending on the structure of the association and state law, consumer protections in the individual, small group, or large group market plans may apply to association health plans.
- Health care sharing ministry. These coverage arrangements are **not** considered to be insurance, so the requirements and protections described in this FAQ do not apply.
- Fixed indemnity insurance. The requirements and protections described in this FAQ generally do not apply.

Drafting Note: States may want to add more details about state-level protections that apply to the coverage types mentioned in the bullets above.

EXCHANGE BASICS

Q 5: What is the [insert name of state health insurance exchange]? (For questions about the [insert name of state SHOP exchange], see Questions 42-46, 48-52, and 71-74).

The [insert name of state exchange] is the name of [insert name of state]'s health insurance exchange. The ACA created health insurance exchanges as places where individuals, families, and small employers can compare private health insurance plans and shop for coverage. Exchanges also provide access to a tax credit to help individuals pay for coverage. (See Questions 83-86.) Through exchanges, individuals may also qualify for help to lower their out-of-pocket costs (deductibles, coinsurance, or copayments) when they receive health care services. Insurers may sell plans through the exchange, as well as in the market outside the exchange. Premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions aren't available for plans sold outside the exchange.

Drafting Note: States that have no market outside the exchange should modify the previous paragraph accordingly. States should note, however, that some individuals such as incarcerated individuals and immigrants not legally present cannot be denied coverage on the basis of health status even though they will not be able to buy coverage through the exchange. (See Questions 121-122.)

To learn more, or to apply for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange], individuals and families should visit the website for the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert link to state exchange website]. For more general information about health insurance exchanges, visit the federal government's website at https://www.healthcare.gov/what-is-the-health-insurance-marketplace.

Q 6: Are there different types of health insurance exchanges?

While the basic features of exchanges are the same in all of the states, the ACA allows for differences in *who* operates them. Some exchange operation options include the federal government operating the exchange, the state operating the exchange, and a partnership between the federal and state governments to operate the exchange. Please contact [insert state consumer affairs contact information] to learn how it is operated.

Q 7: What is a CO-OP plan?

CO-OP stands for Consumer Operated and Oriented Plan, which is a type of health insurer created under the ACA. The ACA gave low interest loans to private organizations to create a new type of nonprofit insurer designed to increase the plan choices available through the state exchanges. Any profits earned by CO-OPs must be applied to either lower premiums or expand benefits for customers. The federal Center for Consumer Information and Insurance Oversight (CCIIO) in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) maintains oversight of the CO-OPs. CO-OPs also must be governed by their members (or customers) and are required to offer plans through their respective states' exchanges.

In [insert name of state], the [insert name of CO-OP] is the CO-OP available through the [insert name of state exchange]. If a CO-OP in the state is no longer available or enrollment has been capped, then consumers can explore other coverage options through the exchange during the open enrollment period (or may be eligible for a special enrollment period (SEP) if their CO-OP coverage ends outside of the open enrollment period).

To find out more about the CO-OP program, please visit http://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs-and-Initiatives/Insurance-Programs/Consumer-Operated-and-Oriented-Plan-Program.html.

Drafting Note: States should modify or eliminate this question if there aren't any CO-OPs in the state, if the CO-OP is no longer available, or enrollment has been capped.

O 8: If consumers live in one state but work in another, to which state's exchange should they apply?

Consumers who don't have access to coverage through their employer (or their spouse's employer) should apply for coverage in the state where they live.

Q 9: Who can buy a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert name of state], any individual or family who wants may buy coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]. The only people who can't are those who are not lawfully present in the U.S. (see Questions 121-122), incarcerated individuals (other than pending disposition of charges) (see Question 123), and generally, people on Medicare (see Question 94). While most individuals and families **can** buy coverage through the exchange, eligibility for tax credits and subsidies is dependent on lacking access to other coverage, e.g., Medicaid/Medicare eligibility, offers of affordable employer-sponsored coverage (see Question 85). When individuals become eligible for Medicare while enrolled in an exchange plan, they will no longer be eligible for any premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions.

Small employers (employers with fewer than [XX] employees) may buy health insurance for their employees through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]. If a state SHOP exchange has not been established in a state, *healthcare.gov* generally directs small employers to contact brokers or insurance companies directly. (For more information about the [insert name of state SHOP exchange], see Questions 42-46, 48-52, and 71-74).

Drafting Note: States should insert the appropriate number in place of XX above, taking into account the specific state rules for SHOP participation.

Q 10: When are consumers able to enroll in plans through the [insert name of state exchange]?

Consumers may enroll during the annual open enrollment period or when they qualify for a special enrollment period. In [insert name of state], open enrollment through [insert name of state exchange] for 2022 coverage for individuals and families begins [November 1, 2021], and continues through [January 15, 2022].

Coverage effective dates depend on the date of enrollment and are contingent on consumers paying the first month's premium directly to the insurance company. Enrollment during a special enrollment period will be effective on either the first day of the following month if a consumer enrolls by the 15th of the month, or on the first day of the second following month, if a consumer enrolls after the 15th of the month.

During open enrollment, consumers may change plans, change insurance companies, or stay with the plan they have, if it's still available. Current enrollees will also receive a new eligibility determination to determine if they will receive more or less financial help in the form of premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions. If a consumer does not actively select a new plan and is eligible for auto-renewal, then they will be automatically re-enrolled into the closest comparable plan for [Plan Year]. So, consumers who want to make changes to their coverage effective on January 1 must choose a plan by [December 15].

Drafting Note: States should insert the appropriate dates for their Open Enrollment Periods.

Q 11: What if a consumer wants to enroll or change plans outside of the open enrollment period?

Consumers may be eligible to enroll in coverage at times other than during the open enrollment period. There are special enrollment periods (SEPs) for individuals or families if they experience certain events. Some examples of events that trigger an SEP include: 1) loss of minimum essential coverage for an individual or their dependent; 2) gaining or becoming a dependent (such as marriage or the birth/adoption of a baby); and 3) being enrolled in a plan without tax credits and then becoming newly eligible for tax credits. (See Question 85.) The federal website https://www.healthcare.gov/coverage-outside-open-enrollment/special-enrollment-period/ lists possible options for consumers to obtain coverage outside an open enrollment period. Consumers generally have 60 days from the date of the event that triggered a SEP to enroll in coverage. Additional information about SEP rules is available at https://www.healthreformbeyondthebasics.org/sep-reference-chart/.

Consumers can apply for coverage through [insert name of state exchange] any time during the year, regardless of whether it's an enrollment period. The [insert name of state exchange] will process applications and tell consumers whether or not they can enroll or must wait until an enrollment period. The exchange will also provide guidance on whether the applicant may be eligible for other types of coverage. Contact the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert website] or [insert phone number] for information about whether a consumer might be eligible to enroll in coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] during a SEP. People who are eligible for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) can apply and enroll in [insert name of state Medicaid agency] at any time. People who become eligible for Medicare while enrolled in [insert name of exchange] should immediately notify the exchange and enroll in Medicare. (See Question 94.)

Q 12: How can a consumer prepare to enroll in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?

The federal website https://www.healthcare.gov/apply-and-enroll/get-ready-to-apply/ has suggestions for things consumers should think about to prepare to enroll in a plan through the exchange. The [insert name of state department of insurance] website at [insert website] has helpful information for consumers who are thinking about enrolling in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers can also make an appointment with a navigator, certified application counselor, insurance agent or broker, or other assister to help prepare for enrollment and compare plans. To find those who can assist consumers, go to Find Local Help at: https://localhelp.healthcare.gov/.

Consumers can start gathering basic information about household income, such as their most recent tax return if they filed one, or other income information. A full list of required documents is available at https://marketplace.cms.gov/outreach-and-education/marketplace-application-checklist.pdf. Many people will qualify for financial help to make insurance affordable, and consumers will need income information to find out how much help they are eligible for. Consumers can find more information about how to save money on coverage at https://www.healthcare.gov/lower-costs/.

SHOPPING FOR HEALTH INSURANCE: WHAT IS COVERED?

Q 13: What types of plans are available through the [insert name of state exchange]?

Health plans sold through the [insert name of state exchange] must meet comprehensive standards for items and services that must be covered. (See Question 16.) To help consumers compare costs, plans available through the [insert name of state exchange] are organized in four tiers/levels, that estimate the generosity of the plans' coverage:

- **Bronze level** The plan must cover about 60% of expected costs across a standard population. This is the lowest level of coverage.
- Silver level The plan must cover about 70% of expected costs across a standard population.
- Gold level The plan must cover about 80% of expected costs across a standard population.
- **Platinum level** The plan must cover about 90% of expected costs across a standard population. This is the highest level of coverage.

In addition, catastrophic plans cover the same services, but their coverage is slightly less generous than the bronze level plans. A catastrophic plan may be a less expensive option for those who are eligible. Individuals are eligible to purchase a catastrophic plan if:

- 1. The individual is under the age 30.
- 2. The individual is over the age of 30 and qualifies for a "hardship exemption" (https://www.healthcare.gov/health-coverage-exemptions/hardship-exemptions/)
- 3. The individual is over the age of 30 and is unable to afford the lowest priced-coverage available to them. (https://www.healthcare.gov/exemptions-tool/#/results/2018/details/marketplace-affordability)

Premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions are not available for catastrophic plans. Also, catastrophic plans cannot be used with health savings accounts (HSAs).

Stand-alone dental plans are available through the [insert name of state exchange]. (See Question 25.)

Q 14: What is actuarial value?

Actuarial value is how much of a standard population's medical spending the health insurance plans in each metal level would cover. Percentages (60% for bronze, 70% for silver, 80% for gold, and 90% for platinum) represent the approximate actuarial value of plans at each level. A higher percentage means the plan covers more of a standard population's costs (and the population pays less out of pocket). A lower percentage means the plan covers less (and the people who have the plan pay more out of pocket). The actuarial value calculation focuses on cost-sharing charges so that a bronze plan would have higher enrollee cost-sharing amounts compared to a gold plan. There also may be differences in how benefits are covered, such as differences in the prescription drugs that are covered or how many physical therapy visits the plan covers. The law requires all metal level plans and catastrophic plans to cover the essential health benefits (EHB). (See Q. 16)

Actuarial value is calculated for a standard population and does not mean that the plan will pay that percentage of any given person's actual costs. For instance, a silver tier plan will pay more than 70% of covered medical expenses for some people and less than 70% for other people.

Actuarial value does not give other information about a plan that may be important to a particular person or affect their costs. It does not indicate how broad or narrow a plan's provider network is, the quality of the provider network, information about the plan's customer service and support, how broad or narrow the drug formulary is, or what the premium levels are. All of this information is important for consumers to consider when they choose a plan.

See https://www.healthcare.gov/choose-a-plan/ for more consumer information about choosing a plan.

Q 15: How do the tiers (bronze, silver, gold, and platinum) help consumers compare plans?

The tiers are a way to categorize plans based on "actuarial value." Plans within each tier have a similar actuarial value, even if they cover different benefits or have different types of cost-sharing. While all plans in a tier must cover essential health benefits (EHB) (see Question 16), the details of their coverage (such as how many physical therapy visits are covered or which prescription drugs are covered) may be different. Not all plans in the same tier have the same benefits or cost-sharing requirements. Some plans may offer benefits in addition to the EHB.

The metal levels show the amount of cost-sharing required by the plan. Metal levels do not give consumers a signal about the plan's provider network size, quality, or any other aspect of coverage.

Q 16: What services/benefits must plans cover? What are essential health benefits (EHB)?

Many plans sold in the individual and small group market, including all of those sold through the [insert name of state exchange] and [insert name of state SHOP exchange] must cover, at a minimum, a comprehensive set of benefits known as essential health benefits (EHB). These EHB include the following:

- Ambulatory patient services
- Emergency services
- Hospitalization
- Maternity and newborn care
- Mental health and substance use disorder services, including behavioral health treatment
- Prescription drugs
- Rehabilitative and habilitative services and devices
- Laboratory services
- Preventive and wellness services, including chronic disease management
- Pediatric services, including oral and vision care

"Grandfathered," "transitional," and "short-term" plans in the individual and small group markets aren't required to include EHB. For more information about these plans, see Questions 30-31.

For more detailed information about essential health benefits in [insert name of state] and other states, visit https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/data-resources/ehb.html#ehb

Q 17: What insurance companies will offer coverage through the [Insert name of state exchange]? How can consumers get a list of companies and plans available?

There are listings of the health plans available through the [insert name of state exchange] on its website: [Insert link to state exchange website]. People without access to the Internet can call the customer service line for the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert phone number] or get help from an agent, broker, or other type of assister. (See Question 61.)

Q 18: How can a consumer find out the details about what a particular plan covers?

All individual and small group plans offered after January 1, 2014, will cover essential health benefits (EHB) (see Question 16), except grandfathered, transitional, and short-term plans. (See Questions 30-31 and 91.)

To learn if a specific benefit is covered, and at what level, check a plan's Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC). The SBC is a uniform document that includes details about what a plan does and does not cover. It also includes information about what kinds of costs a consumer can expect to pay out of pocket, such as copayments, coinsurance, and deductibles. An insurance company must provide an SBC for all health plans except for short-term and limited benefit plans. An SBC gives information in the same way for every plan to make it easier to compare plans. SBCs are available on the federal government's website at www.healthcare.gov, the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link], the insurance company's website, or from an agent or broker for plans offered in the market outside the exchange.

It should be noted that the SBC provides only a *summary* of the benefits. More detailed information is available through the insurer or an insurance agent or broker, and each SBC must include a link to a copy of the actual individual coverage policy or group certificate of coverage that will provide more detailed information.

The [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert *link*] includes information about what each plan covers and links to the insurer's plan brochures.

Consumers can read more about the SBC here:

www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs-and-Initiatives/Consumer-Support-and-Information/Summary-of-Benefits-and-Coverage-and-Uniform-Glossary.html

Q 19: How can consumers compare benefits and understand what a plan covers?

In addition to getting a Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) (see Question 18), consumers can get information about the health plan options available in their state online at the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link], through the [insert name of state exchange]'s toll-free telephone number, or from agents, brokers, navigators, or consumer assisters. To find those that can help consumers in their area, direct them to "Find Local Help" at https://localhelp.healthcare.gov/

Q 20: How can consumers see and compare premiums for plans?

The [insert name of state exchange] is set up to let consumers compare policies based on premiums, provider network, actuarial value, and other factors. In addition to premium costs, consumers should look at all the benefits and cost-sharing provisions when choosing a plan because plans with the lowest premium often have the highest out-of-pocket costs.

Consumers can get information to compare premiums from the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link] or call center at [insert phone number]. Also, navigators, certified application counselors, insurance agents or brokers, or other assisters should be able to help consumers compare plans.

Drafting Note: States that allow stand-alone vision plans to be sold through the exchange should change this answer to include stand-alone vision plans.

Q 21: Can a person or a health insurance issuer take benefits out of a plan? What if a consumer doesn't need all of the benefits in a plan?

No. Neither consumers nor health insurance issuers can take benefits out of a plan. At a minimum, every health plan on the [insert name of state exchange] must provide coverage for all the essential health benefits (EHB) the ACA requires. (See Question 16.) Even though a person may not need every benefit in a plan, plans must cover all the essential benefits to share risk across a broad pool of consumers and be sure all benefits are available to everyone. This also helps to protect people from risks they cannot always predict across their lifetimes.

There may be short-term plans or limited benefit plans available that don't cover all the essential health benefits (EHB).

Drafting Note: States with an individual mandate may want to add: Consumers who don't have a plan that provides minimum essential coverage may have to pay a penalty when they file their state income taxes. The federal penalty was reduced to \$0 starting with tax year 2019. (See Question 59.)

Q 22: Can consumers' health conditions affect what coverage they are able to get?

No. Under the ACA, health insurance companies no longer can leave coverage out of a plan based on a person's health condition, a practice that used to be known as a "pre-existing condition exclusion." Nor can they charge a higher premium because of a person's health condition. These protections apply whether a person buys an individual market plan through the exchange or outside the exchange. It is important to note that the prohibitions on pre-existing condition exclusions do not apply to short-term or limited benefit plans.

Q 23: Can an insurance company charge tobacco users more than non-tobacco users?

Under the ACA, health insurance companies in the individual and small group markets can charge consumers who use tobacco products a higher premium. People who use tobacco may be charged up to [insert state-specific tobacco surcharge – no higher than 50%] more than people who do not use tobacco. Consumers in group plans may not have to pay this extra charge if they complete a tobacco cessation program and cannot be charged more if they aren't offered an opportunity to complete a tobacco cessation program. This does not apply to coverage that is not considered comprehensive individual coverage, including short-term plans.

Drafting Note: States that don't allow the tobacco surcharge should replace the previous paragraph with the following one: In [insert name of state], health insurance companies cannot charge consumers a higher premium for being a tobacco user.

Q 24: What are preventive benefits and how are they covered?

Preventive benefits are designed to keep people healthy by providing screening for early detection of certain health conditions or to help prevent illnesses. The ACA requires that individual market and non-grandfathered group health plans cover many preventive services with no out-of-pocket costs (meaning no deductibles, copayments, and coinsurance) for all new plans sold after September 23, 2010. Some of these covered preventive services are:

- Colorectal cancer screenings, including polyp removal for individuals 45 or older.
- Immunizations and vaccines for adults and children
- Counseling to help adults stop smoking
- Well-woman check-ups, as well as mammograms and cervical cancer screenings
- Well-baby and well-child exams for children

As long as there is an in-network provider in a plan to do a particular preventive service, the plan can charge for that preventive service when an out-of-network provider does it. If there is no in-network provider available to provide a particular preventive service, then the plan can't charge for the preventive service when an out-of-network provider delivers them.

For more detailed information about covered preventive services, visit the federal government's website at https://www.healthcare.gov/what-are-my-preventive-care-benefits

Q 25: Are dental or vision benefits available through the [insert name of state exchange]?

The ACA requires plans sold through the [insert name of state exchange] to include vision coverage for children, so children's vision benefits are included in plans through the [insert name of state exchange]. Dental benefits are treated differently. The ACA lets insurance companies offer health plans through the [insert name of state exchange] that don't include children's dental benefits as long as the [insert name of state exchange] offers a stand-alone dental plan that includes a children's (pediatric) dental benefit.

Plans aren't required to include dental or vision coverage for adults, but a plan can choose to include these benefits as part of its coverage. Check a plan's Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) to learn if the plan includes dental or vision coverage for adults.

Some insurance companies may offer stand-alone dental plans through the [insert name of state exchange]. Check the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link] for more information.

Check the federal website at www.healthcare.gov for more information about dental benefits.

Drafting Note: States where consumers may buy dental coverage without buying health coverage should add a sentence to explain, if appropriate.

Drafting Note: States that allow people with Medicare to buy dental plans through the exchange should include this information in this answer.

Drafting Note: States that allow stand-alone vision plans to be sold through the exchange should change the answer to this question as appropriate.

Q 26: How does a consumer find out what drugs a plan covers?

Health insurers keep lists of which drugs are covered and which are covered at the lowest cost for each of their plans. These lists are called formularies. Drug cost-sharing is often "tiered"—that is, consumers pay less for a generic drug, more for a brand name drug, and sometimes even more for a "nonpreferred" brand name drug. Consumers should review the formularies in any plan they are considering to be sure the plan meets their prescription drug needs and to know what cost-sharing is required for any given drug. For plans that use formularies, the Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) includes an online link where consumers can find information about the plan's drug coverage. Consumers also can call health insurers for information about formularies.

Formulary information is also available on [insert name of state exchange]'s website [insert *link*]. If a consumer enrolls in coverage and needs access to a drug not on the plan's formulary, then the enrollee may be able to use the drug exceptions process to request and gain access to the needed drug.

Drafting Note: States should add language to describe their rules regarding whether the insurance company can change the formulary or tiering after the consumer has bought the plan.

Q 27: What are out-of-network services, and do consumers have any coverage for them?

Services are considered out-of-network if they are from a doctor, hospital, or other provider that does not have a contractual relationship with a particular health plan. Not all plans cover out-of-network services, but when they do, a consumer's share of the cost is usually a lot higher than for an in-network service. (See Question 24 on preventive services and Question 29 on emergency services.) Whenever possible, consumers should find out whether a provider is in-network before they receive services. Consumers also should find out if their regular or desired health care providers are in-network before they buy a plan. Also, different plans offered by the same insurer may have different provider networks, so consumers should be careful to look at the network for their specific plan. When reviewing plans to buy, the specific plan name should be on the Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC). After a consumer buys a plan, he or she can find the specific plan name on the cover page of the policy document or on their health insurance identification card.

Though the ACA limits how much money a person must spend each year on his or her family's health care, health insurers are allowed, although not required by federal law, to count the cost of out-of-network services toward these limits.

A plan's Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) includes information about coverage for out-of-network services and a link to the plan's website and the provider network.

Q 28: How do consumers determine if their doctor or dentist is in the network?

The [insert name of state exchange] website (at [insert website]) lets consumers look up whether their doctor is in the plan network. For plans with a provider network, the Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) includes an online link to a list of network providers. Because plan networks may change regularly, consumers also should check with the doctor or dentist before they schedule an appointment to learn if the provider is still in the plan's network.

Q 29: Do consumers have access to emergency care out-of-network?

Yes. The ACA requires many health plans that provide benefits for emergency services to cover them regardless of whether the provider is in or out of the network. Under the ACA, health plans are not allowed to charge a higher copayment or coinsurance amount for out-of-network services received in an emergency. In addition, [insert name of state] prohibits balance billing for emergency care received out-of-network, meaning only in-network rates apply for all emergency care.

The No Surprises Act provides federal protections against balance bills for emergency services and care at in-network facilities. Most provisions of the No Surprises Act are effective for plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The plans that are covered by this Federal law are: Fully insured plans, Self-funded plans, and Grandfathered plans. *The legislation does not protect those insured by short-term health plans and excepted benefit, dental and vision plans.*

See link: https://www.cms.gov/nosurprises

Drafting Note: States that allow health care providers to balance bill for emergency care received out-of-network should replace the previous paragraph with the following:

Yes. The ACA requires many health plans that provide benefits for emergency services to cover those services whether the provider is in or out of the network. While health plans are not allowed to charge a higher copayment or coinsurance for out-of-network services received in an emergency, [Insert state name] allows health care providers to bill consumers for the difference between the cost of emergency care received out-of-network and the amount the plan allows. For more information about [insert name of state]'s rules on balance billing, please contact [insert specific state contact information]. Under federal law, to limit amounts of balance billing for out-of-network emergency services, insurers must calculate amounts they pay for such services to yield the highest payment of the following three amounts:

- (A) The amount negotiated with in-network providers for the emergency service provided, excluding any in-network copayment or coinsurance imposed with respect to the participant, beneficiary, or enrollee.
- (B) The amount for the emergency service calculated using the same method the plan uses to determine payments for out-of-network services (such as the usual, customary, and reasonable amount), excluding any in-network copayment or coinsurance imposed with respect to the participant, beneficiary, or enrollee.
- (C) The amount that would be paid under Medicare Parts A or B for the emergency service, excluding any in-network copayment or coinsurance imposed with respect to the participant, beneficiary, or enrollee.

Q 30: What is a "grandfathered" health plan?

A grandfathered health plan is a plan that has existed continuously prior to March 23, 2010, and that has not made certain significant changes in the plan. Grandfathered plans are not subject to many of the ACA requirements, such as the requirement that plans cover essential health benefits (EHB) (see Question 16), but they are considered to provide minimum essential coverage under the ACA. (See Question 59.)

Grandfathered plans may lose their "grandfather" status if a plan makes certain changes, such as a major increase in their cost-sharing (coinsurance, deductibles, copayments) or dropping benefits to diagnose or treat a particular condition.

Employer-sponsored plans that significantly increase the employee share of the premium also could lose "grandfathered" status. If a plan's "grandfathered" status is forfeited, that plan would have to follow the applicable ACA requirements. In the individual market, a consumer cannot enroll in a grandfathered plan with a new enrollment. However, consumers who are already enrolled in an individual market plan prior to March 23, 2010 can renew their coverage in that grandfathered plan.

A plan must show in the plan materials if it is a grandfathered plan. Also, consumers can check with their insurance company or employer to figure out if their plan is grandfathered.

Q 31: Can consumers keep an existing plan that isn't grandfathered, but doesn't comply with the ACA reforms (known as transitional plans or "grandmothered" plans)?

It depends. In November 2013, CMS announced a transitional policy that would let insurers, if the state allows, to extend policyholders' 2013 coverage for up to several more years even if the plan didn't follow certain ACA reforms. These transitional plans can no longer be sold to new customers (after January 1, 2014), and individuals who bought them aren't eligible for subsidies. An individual or small business that has one of these plans would be notified by the insurer. If a consumer has a transitional plan, they should check with their insurance carrier to learn if it will renew their plan and what changes, if any, it will be making to the plan.

Drafting Note: States that did not adopt this policy, applied it only in certain markets (i.e., in the small group market but not the individual market), or that have already phased out transitional plans would need to edit this answer accordingly or delete it entirely.

EMPLOYER-SPONSORED COVERAGE

Q 32: Is employer-based coverage required to cover dependents (spouses and children)?

Under the ACA, if an employer with 50 or more employees doesn't offer coverage that meets minimum standards to employees and their dependents and employees access premium tax credits through the exchange, then the employer may have to pay a tax penalty. (See Questions 55-56.) However, for purposes of this penalty, the IRS has interpreted the phrase "and their dependents" to mean children under age 26 but not spouses. For more information, see https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/employers/employer-shared-responsibility-provisions. Small employers with fewer than 50 employees that don't offer coverage to employees or their dependents are not subject to any tax penalties, but may qualify for a tax credit if they choose to offer coverage. (See Question 54.)

Also, if employer-based coverage includes children, then the ACA requires employers to let children up to age 26 stay on their parents' policy. Adult children up to age 26 can stay on their parents' policy whether or not they live in their parents' home, are married, or the parents no longer claim them as a dependent on their tax return. The employee can be required to pay for this coverage, however.

An employer who offers health benefits to employees must also offer the same health benefits to similarly-situated employees who are eligible for Medicare. This rule applies when an employee is 65 or older and the employer has 20 or more employees. This rule applies to dependents when an employer offers health benefits that include dependents.

Q 33: What can a consumer do when employer-based health coverage ends?

Under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA), a federal health law since 1986, when employees and their dependents lose employer-based coverage, they are still eligible to stay on their employer's group health plan, even though that coverage would otherwise end. COBRA doesn't apply to employers with fewer than 20 employees [insert state mini-COBRA law information if applicable]. Employees or their dependents who are eligible for Medicare when employer group health coverage ends are eligible to enroll in COBRA. However, COBRA coverage is expensive and will only pay benefits secondary to Medicare benefits, even if the Medicare-eligible individual has not enrolled in Medicare. The most recent Department of Labor model COBRA notice includes more specific information about coordination of benefits between

these two programs. This model notice can be found at https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ebsa/laws-and-regulations/laws/cobra. If an individual is enrolled in COBRA coverage and subsequently becomes eligible for Medicare, then primary COBRA benefits will end.

Drafting Note: COBRA is secondary to Medicare benefits because Medicare secondary payer rules that apply to employer group health benefits don't apply to COBRA benefits. Most employer group health plans have strong coordination of benefit rules. Medicare-eligible individuals are subject to recovery actions if COBRA mistakenly pays primary benefits even if the Medicare-eligible individual has not actually enrolled for those benefits.

COBRA coverage can be expensive because the former employer isn't required to pay any part of the premium. Those who have lost employer-based health coverage may be eligible to access advance premium tax credits to buy a more affordable individual or family policy through the [insert name of state exchange] (see Questions 85-86), even if the loss of coverage occurs outside of the open enrollment period. Consumers enrolled in COBRA don't qualify for advance premium tax credits. Dropping COBRA coverage outside of an open enrollment period doesn't qualify as a special enrollment opportunity.

Q 34: Must a consumer use all available COBRA coverage before buying coverage through the exchange with subsidies?

No. COBRA allows group health plan participants and beneficiaries to continue coverage under their group health plan for a limited period of time after certain events cause a loss of coverage, such as voluntary or involuntary job loss, reduction in the number of hours worked, transition between jobs, death, and divorce. Individuals who lose eligibility for minimum essential coverage, including employer-based coverage, will be eligible for a special enrollment period (SEP) during when they can buy coverage on the [insert name of state exchange] or in the individual market outside of the exchange. At this time, they also may apply for advance premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions through [insert name of state exchange] to learn if they are eligible to receive them. However, individuals who have already enrolled in COBRA coverage must wait until the next open enrollment period or until that COBRA coverage has been exhausted before enrolling in an individual market plan.

Medicare-eligible former employees have an 8-month SEP to enroll in Medicare Part B that starts on the date of their last month of employment. If they enroll during this SEP, there is no late enrollment premium penalty or other coverage restrictions. They have 63 days to enroll in Medicare Part D from the last date without prescription drug benefits that are at least equivalent to Medicare's.

Q 35: If a consumer has access to employer-based coverage, can an employer make the consumer wait before becoming eligible for benefits?

Yes. Employers may require a waiting period before individuals become eligible for benefits. Under the ACA, this waiting period can't be longer than 90 days. Employers also may impose an additional one-month orientation period before the waiting period begins. For more information, consumers should contact their employer's human resources department.

Q 36: Can a consumer with access to employer-based coverage get a tax credit to buy a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?

A consumer who has access to employer-based coverage is free to buy a plan through the [insert name of state exchange], but tax credits to buy the coverage are available only if the employer's plan isn't affordable or doesn't provide minimum value. (See Question 85.) Consumers who have access to employer-based coverage that is affordable and provides minimum value will not be able to get tax credits and cost-sharing reductions.

Coverage isn't affordable if the cost of employee-only coverage under the lowest-cost employer plan is more than 9.61% of the employee's annual household income in 2022. The plan doesn't provide minimum value if it pays for less than 60% of medical costs that the plan covers, or if it doesn't provide substantial coverage of inpatient hospital or physician services. The HHS and IRS have developed a minimum value calculator available at www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-Guidance/Downloads/mv-calculator-final-4-11-2013.xlsm.

Consumers can learn if an employer plan meets minimum value by looking at the Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC) or by asking the employer to fill out an Employer Coverage Tool. This form provides information that will help the consumer © 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 18

answer application questions correctly at the [insert name of state exchange]. The Employer Coverage Tool can be found at https://marketplace.cms.gov/applications-and-forms/employer-coverage-tool.pdf

There's more information on [insert name of state exchange]'s website at [insert link] and on the IRS websites listed below:

www.irs.gov/Affordable-Care-Act/Individuals-and-Families/The-Premium-Tax-Credit

www.irs.gov/Affordable-Care-Act/Individuals-and-Families/Questions-and-Answers-on-the-Premium-Tax-Credit

Q 37: If a consumer is offered employer-based coverage that would cover a spouse or dependents, can that consumer's spouse or children get a tax credit to buy coverage through the exchange?

It depends on whether the employer-based coverage is affordable and meets minimum value. If the premiums for employee-only coverage in the lowest-cost plan are less than 9.61% of household income and the coverage provides minimum value, then no one in the family who is eligible for the plan is eligible for premium tax credits. This may be the case even when it would be unaffordable for a spouse or children to enroll in the plan, based on the cost of family coverage. Depending on state eligibility rules, the children may be eligible for Medicaid or CHIP coverage. (See Question 102.) Contact the [insert name of state exchange] to learn more.

Q 38: What is a health reimbursement arrangement?

In a health reimbursement arrangement (HRA), an employer may offer employees tax-free funds they can use to buy health coverage. There are different types of HRAs. In an individual coverage HRA, an employer may offer funds instead of a group health plan to some or all employees. The employees use the funds to buy individual market health plans for themselves and their families. In an excepted benefits HRA, an employer may offer funds and a group health plan. The employees and their families may use the HRA funds to buy health coverage other than comprehensive health coverage, such as dental and vision coverage or short-term, limited duration health insurance.

A Medicare-eligible employee can have an HRA if the employee is enrolled in a health care flexible spending account (HCFSA). The employer can pay Medicare Part B and Part D premiums for active employees only if the employer payment plan is integrated with the group health plan. (See Department of Labor rules.)

Q 39: If a consumer is offered a health reimbursement arrangement, can that consumer get a tax credit to buy coverage through the exchange?

The answer depends on the amount of the HRA the employer offers. If the employer offers enough money through an HRA to make an exchange plan affordable for an employee, then neither the employee nor their dependents are eligible for a premium tax credit. If the amount of the HRA isn't enough to make an exchange plan affordable, then the employee and their dependents may still receive a premium tax credit. If the HRA is a qualified small employer HRA (QSEHRA), then the amount of the tax credit is reduced by the amount of the QSEHRA. More information about HRAs and small businesses can be found at: https://www.healthcare.gov/small-businesses/learn-more/gsehra/

The [state exchange name] might not take a consumer's HRA into account when calculating how much premium tax credit the consumer is eligible for. In that case, the consumer may want to apply less than the full amount of the credit they are awarded when they pay their premiums each month. This can help to prevent the need to pay back some of the credit when the consumer files his or her federal income tax return.

Q 40: What are Health Savings Accounts?

Individuals may contribute to tax-advantaged Health Savings Accounts (HSAs) when they are enrolled in a health plan that meets certain IRS requirements to be an "HSA-qualified" health insurance plan. The plan must have a minimum deductible (presently \$1400 for self-only coverage and \$2800 for family coverage). The deductible must apply to all covered benefits received from in-network providers. Importantly, only certain "preventive care" benefits may be provided before the

deductible is met. The health plan must not be limited to vision, dental, disability, workers' compensation and other so-called "excepted benefits" or other types of limited coverage.

An individual is not eligible to contribute to an HSA for any month that they: (1) have coverage under any health insurance plan or other arrangement (including employer-sponsored health flexible spending arrangements or health reimbursement arrangements) that does not apply a deductible equal to or exceeding the minimums described above; (2) are enrolled in Medicare; or (3) can be claimed as a dependent on another individual's tax return.

A Medicare beneficiary cannot contribute to an HSA once they are enrolled in Medicare. For individuals that enroll in Medicare after they turn 65, their Medicare effective date could be retroactive up to six months which could impact their eligibility to make HSA contributions. HSA account owners can still use their HSA funds to pay Medicare premiums (all Parts but not Medicare Supplement insurance), deductibles, co-pays, coinsurance, as well as other eligible expenses for services not covered by Medicare (e.g., dental, vision, hearing).

Q 41: When an employee is enrolled in employer-based coverage and in Medicare, is Medicare a primary or secondary payer?

When an employee or a dependent is eligible for Medicare, the size of the employer group determines if the group plan is primary or secondary to Medicare. When an employee or a dependent is 65 or older and there are 20 or more employees, the employer group health plan is primary. When an employee or their dependent is disabled and there are 100 or more employees, the group health plan is primary. The number of employees includes both full-time and part-time employees. If the employer has fewer than 20 or 100 employees, then Medicare will be primary and the group health plan will be secondary coverage.

Q 42: What is the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

Under the ACA, states or the federal government may create Small Business Health Options Program (SHOP) exchanges, where small employers who want to offer coverage to their employees can shop for plans. In [insert name of state], the SHOP exchange is called the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]. The SHOP can allow a small employer to offer a range of small group plans to their workers. Eligible employers can apply for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit if they offer coverage through the SHOP and meet certain other criteria. The SHOP has no minimum contribution requirements for employers, but some states may impose a contribution requirement in addition to a minimum participation rate. Employers who are interested in applying for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit, however, must contribute at least 50% of the cost of their employees' premiums to be eligible for the credit. Just as with the regular small group market, employers who sign up for coverage during the small group open enrollment period that runs from November 15 to December 15 will face no minimum participation requirements. Coverage would then be effective for workers beginning January 1.

The ACA calls for "employee choice" in the SHOP exchanges. Under this provision, small employers may choose to give their employees a choice of health plans from multiple insurers across all metal levels (See Question 15) on the SHOP exchange. In some states, employers may also choose to offer coverage from one insurance company. Whether or not they offer employees choice, in most states, employers will work with their SHOP-registered agent or broker or insurance company (or companies) to obtain application, enrollment, and billing information.

There's more information about the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] at [insert *link to state SHOP exchange website*]. There are resources with information about small employer issues and the ACA on the following websites:

http://healthcare.gov/small-businesses

U.S. Department of Labor Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act information https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ebsa/laws-and-regulations/laws/affordable-care-act/for-workers-and-families

Affordable Care Act Tax Provisions https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act

O 43: Is there a cost to participate in [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

There's no fee for small employers or their employees to enroll in SHOP coverage. Some employers may be eligible for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit, which can be worth up to 50% of the employer's premium contribution.

Q 44: Can insurers charge more (or less) for policies sold through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

No. Insurers must charge the same for similar plans whether they're sold through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] or in the market outside of the [insert name of state SHOP exchange].

Q 45: What happens if an employer's staff increases to more than [50] employees in the year after the employer bought coverage through the SHOP?

Once enrolled in SHOP exchange, businesses can renew their coverage even if the number of their employees increases to more than [50].

Drafting Note: States should modify the number of employees in accordance with the state definition of small employer.

Q 46: How are small employers defined?

In [state], small employers who are eligible for coverage in the small group market or in the SHOP exchange are those with [50] or fewer employees. The definition may be different in other states.

Drafting Note: States should modify the number of employees in accordance with the state definition of small employer.

Q 47: How do employers with full-time and part-time employees know whether they're required to pay a penalty if they don't offer health insurance to their workers?

Small employers are not required to pay a penalty if they do not offer health coverage. To avoid the penalty, large employers must be considered to have at least 50 full-time equivalent employees. Penalties are assessed against employers with at least 50 full-time equivalent employees who 1) do not offer health coverage that meets minimum standards or 2) have an employee who gets coverage through the exchange and gets the premium tax credit. (See Questions 55-56).

The IRS website provides more information: <u>https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/employers/employer-shared-responsibility-provisions</u>

Q 48: Are health insurers required to sell their plans through the federal SHOP exchange?

Beginning January 1, 2018, SHOP plans are no longer offered through the federal SHOP Exchange. Instead, there are two options to enroll in a SHOP plan, which are:

- 1. Work with a SHOP-registered agent or broker.
- 2. Sign up with an insurance company.

For more SHOP information, including SHOP plans and prices, click on the Healthcare.gov link below. https://www.healthcare.gov/small-businesses/choose-and-enroll/enroll-in-shop/

Drafting Note: Consumers should not create an account, log into an existing account, or start an application on HealthCare.gov for SHOP coverage, even if that is how they enrolled in SHOP coverage in the past.

Q 49: Are small employers required to buy a health plan for their employees through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

No. Small employers may buy health insurance for employees through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] or in the market outside the exchange. However, to be eligible for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit (see Question 57), in most cases a small employer must have bought the coverage through the SHOP exchange. It is important for small employers to understand and compare all options available to them. State-licensed health insurance agents and brokers, including SHOP registered agents and brokers, are available to help small employers compare options and determine which plan best meets their needs.

More information about the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit is available at

https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p4862.pdf

Drafting Note: States that require small employers to buy health insurance for their employees through the exchange should modify this answer as appropriate.

Q 50: Will consumers be better off with individual coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] rather than through the small employer coverage?

Maybe. It depends on many variables, such as the employees' out-of-pocket expenses under the small group plan offered, the consumers' personal circumstances, and the premiums of plans available through the exchange. Employees, their spouses, and dependents offered coverage through an employer are usually not eligible for premium tax credits, so small employer-sponsored coverage could cost less than individual coverage through the federal exchange.

Employers and employees should compare rates for plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange] and for plans in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange].

Q 51: Are there participation rates that insurers can require employers to meet to be eligible to buy small group coverage through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] or in the market outside the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

As a result of the ACA, insurers offering coverage in the small group market can't deny coverage to a small employer who doesn't meet minimum participation requirements, if the employer seeks coverage during the small group open enrollment period that runs from November 15 to December 15 each year. Outside of that time period, insurers in the small group market can require small employers to meet participation requirements through the [insert name of state exchange] or outside the [insert name of state exchange] consistent with [insert name of state] law.

[Insert name of state] law doesn't allow a small employer insurer to impose more stringent requirements than the following:

• [insert participation limits consistent with state law]

Drafting Note: States with state-based exchanges may impose minimum participation rates as a condition of participation in a state SHOP exchange. In states with a federally-facilitated exchange, the SHOP has a default minimum participation rate of 70% for qualified health plans (QHPs). The minimum participation rate also will be adjusted higher or lower depending on state law or general insurer practice. For more information, see this link: https://marketplace.cms.gov/outreach-and-education/shop-minimum-participation-rates.pdf

Q 52: Can small employers who are the sole employees of their business buy small group coverage either through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] or the outside market?

Neither federal nor state law lets insurers sell small group health insurance plans to self-employed individuals with no common law employees through the SHOP.

Contact the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert link] or [phone number] or a licensed agent or broker for help.

Q 53: How does rating work in the small group market?

Under the ACA, there is adjusted community rating in the small group market. This means that the rates each employer pays for health insurance depends on the claims experience of the insurer's entire small group market in [insert name of state], rather than the claims experience of that employer's small group.

The ACA offers states the option to combine the individual and small group markets. By combining the markets, risk is pooled among a larger number of policyholders. A larger risk pool increases rate stability; however, initially premiums for individuals are likely to be lower on average, while premiums for small employers are likely to be higher.

Q 54: Do small employers who don't offer health care insurance coverage to their employees have to pay a tax penalty?

No. Small employers who want to provide coverage may be eligible for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit to help make insurance more affordable.

If the employer does offer coverage, then the coverage must meet the ACA's minimum standards for small group insurance plans, as well as specific requirements that apply to the small group market, such as coverage of essential health benefits (EHB) and the prohibition on discrimination based on health status.

In [insert name of state], the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] is a place where small employers who want to offer coverage to their employees can shop. There's more information about the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] at [insert link to state SHOP exchange website].

Q 55: Do large employers have to offer health care insurance coverage to their employees? What about seasonal employees?

Under the ACA, if an applicable large employer doesn't offer affordable coverage that provides minimum value to full-time employees (and their dependents¹), and an employee gets a premium tax credit, then the employer has to pay a penalty. For employer-based coverage to be considered affordable in 2022, the premiums for the plan's employee-only option must be less than 9.61% of his or her 2022 annual household income.

To offer minimum value, the plan must pay at least 60% of the medical costs for services the plan covers and include substantial coverage of inpatient hospital and physician services. The HHS and IRS have developed a minimum value calculator at www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Regulations-and-Guidance/Downloads/mv-calculator-final-4-11-2013.xlsm.

Applicable large employers are employers with 50 or more full-time employees, including full-time equivalent (FTE) employees. Full-time employees are employees with 30 hours or more of service in a week. The number of FTE employees is determined by adding the number of hours of service in a month for all part-time workers and dividing by 120 hours per month. The term "applicable large employer" is used for the employer shared responsibility and information reporting provisions of the ACA.

Penalties were assessed starting January 1, 2016 against employers with 50 or more FTE employees who do not offer health coverage if an employee gets the premium tax credit.

Employers with a large seasonal workforce (such as agricultural workers hired for the harvest season or retail clerks hired for the holiday season) are given leeway under the ACA not to count seasonal employees to decide if they meet the definition of

¹ The rules implementing employer shared responsibility provisions have interpreted the phrase "and their dependents" to mean children under age 26, but not spouses. There's more information at https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/employer-shared-responsibility-provisions.

a large employer. If the employer has more than 50 full-time or FTE employees during 120 or fewer days per year, then the employer doesn't have to count those employees for those months.

For more information, go to the IRS website at https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/employers/employer-shared-responsibility-provisions. IRS Publication 5208 also has information to determine if an employer is an applicable large employer.

This question does not take into account all possible situations. Employers should consult a tax professional for help with their particular situation.

[1] The rules implementing employer-shared responsibility provisions have interpreted the phrase "and their dependents" to mean children under age 26, but not spouses, stepchildren, or foster children. There is more information at https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/employers/employer-shared-responsibility-provisions.

Q 56: What are the penalties if large employers don't provide coverage?

Large employers may have to pay a tax penalty if they don't offer affordable coverage that provides minimum value (see Question 55) for at least 95% of their full-time employees and their dependents, or all but five full-time employees, whichever is greater, and at least one of their employees gets premium tax credits through the [insert name of state exchange].

In general, an applicable large employer that *does not offer* minimum essential coverage to at least 95 percent of its full-time employees (and their dependents) will be liable for the first of two types of employer shared responsibility payments if at least one full-time employee receives the premium tax credit for purchasing coverage through the exchange. On an annual basis, this payment is equal to \$2,320 (indexed for future years) for each full-time employee, with the first 30 employees excluded from the calculation. This calculation is based on *all* full-time employees (minus 30), including full-time employees who have minimum essential coverage under the employer's plan or from another source.

In general, an applicable large employer that *does offer* minimum essential coverage to at least 95 percent of its full-time employees (and their dependents) will be liable for the second type of employer shared responsibility payment if at least one full-time employee receives the premium tax credit for purchasing coverage through the exchange. Generally, a full-time employee will receive the premium tax credit because the minimum essential coverage offered was not affordable, did not provide minimum value, or because the employee was not one of the at least 95 percent of full-time employees offered minimum essential coverage. On an annual basis, this payment is equal to \$3,480 (indexed for future years) but only for each full-time employee who receives the premium tax credit. The total payment in this instance cannot exceed the amount the employer would have owed had the employer not offered minimum essential coverage to at least 95 percent of its full-time employees (and their dependents).

More information about employer penalties can be found at https://www.irs.gov/affordable-care-act/employers/employer-shared-responsibility-provisions

Medicaid-eligible employees can't get premium tax credits, so employers will not face penalties for employees who receive Medicaid coverage or for employees' children who receive CHIP coverage.

Q 57: How do small employers find out if they're eligible for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit?

Employers who buy coverage for their employees through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] may be eligible for the Small Business Health Care Tax Credit. To qualify, the employer must: 1) have fewer than 25 full-time equivalent employees; 2) pay employees an average annual wage that's less than \$50,000; and 3) pay at least half of the insurance premiums.

The tax credit operates on a sliding scale, with a maximum credit of 50% of the employer's share of the premium costs. It is only available to small employers buying health insurance through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]. The tax credit may be worth up to 50% of an employer's contribution toward employees' premium costs (up to 35% for tax-exempt employers).

Contact the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] at [insert link] or [insert phone number] for more information. A competent tax advisor also should be able to advise a small employer. The IRS provides additional information at <a href="https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/small-business-health-care-tax-credit-questions-and-answers-calculating-the-credit-questions-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-answers-

Q 58: What ACA requirements apply to large employers?

Several ACA requirements apply to non-grandfathered health plans that large employers offer on either an insured or self-insured basis. The requirements include limits on out-of-pocket expenditures and waiting periods, no annual or lifetime dollar limits on coverage of essential health benefits or cost-sharing for preventive services, the requirement that coverage be offered to adult children up to age 26, and the requirement of access to internal and external appeals. Also, as noted in Question 56, large employers are required to offer affordable and adequate coverage, or face a tax penalty.

ACA REQUIREMENT TO HAVE BASIC HEALTH CARE COVERAGE (INDIVIDUAL MANDATE)

Q 59: What is the individual responsibility requirement, and does it mean consumers must maintain coverage?

Under the ACA, consumers and their dependent children are required to have "minimum essential coverage," unless they qualify for an exemption. This requirement is known as "individual shared responsibility" or the "individual mandate." However, beginning in 2019, the federal tax penalty for going without coverage was reduced to \$0. Therefore, those without coverage will have to pay out of pocket for any health care expenses they incur, but they will not pay an additional tax penalty.

This link to the IRS website has more information: <u>www.irs.gov/Affordable-Care-Act/Individuals-and-Families/ACA-Individual-Shared-Responsibility-Provision-Minimum-Essential-Coverage</u>

Coverage purchased through an exchange counts as minimum essential coverage, and so do other types of coverage. Employer-sponsored coverage, grandfathered plans, Medicare, Medicaid, and CHIP are all minimum essential coverage. Short-term health plans, fixed indemnity insurance, and coverage through a health care sharing ministry are not minimum essential coverage.

Check the website at www.healthcare.gov/fees/fee-for-not-being-covered/ for more information.

Q 60: Without a tax penalty, is having minimum essential coverage important?

After 2018, the tax penalty for not having minimum essential coverage (MEC) was reduced to \$0. There's more information about the penalty at http://www.healthcare.gov/fees-exemptions/fee-for-not-being-covered/

Individuals who are not enrolled in minimum essential coverage (MEC) are not eligible for one type of Special Enrollment Period (SEP). Those who are enrolled in MEC that ends are eligible for an SEP that allows them to enroll in individual market coverage, including exchange coverage. Those who are enrolled in coverage that is not MEC do not qualify for this SEP. Therefore, if their coverage ends, they need to wait until the next Open Enrollment Period or until they qualify for another SEP to enroll. Individuals cannot be eligible for premium tax credits until they are enrolled in an exchange plan. More information on SEP rules is available at https://www.healthreformbeyondthebasics.org/sep-reference-chart/.

And, of course, having coverage offers consumers some protection against high health costs, even if there is no tax penalty for going without coverage.

Drafting Note: States with their own penalties for not having MEC should include that information.

ENROLLING IN HEALTH CARE COVERAGE: WHERE CAN CONSUMERS GET HELP?

Q 61: Where do consumers go for help to choose and enroll in a plan?

Consumers should make a list of questions before they shop for a health plan. Consumers should gather information about their household income and set a budget for health insurance. Consumers should find out if they can stay with their current doctors and pharmacy, whether their medications are covered, and understand how insurance works—including understanding deductibles, out-of-pocket maximums, and copayments.

There are several resources from the Kaiser Family Foundation, Consumer Reports, the NAIC, HHS, and the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) to help consumers understand how insurance works, the different insurance options, and what to consider when buying coverage. For questions about Medicare and other health coverage, consumers can contact the state SHIP.

A standard form called the Summary of Benefits and Coverage, or SBC, and the companion set of uniform definitions, also is available for many health insurance plans. This information can help consumers compare different insurance options. (See Question 18.) Consumers can get the form and definitions through the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert link to state exchange website], or ask the plan for it. The [insert name of state exchange] also can direct consumers to more information and resources about the options that are available.

Consumers who are eligible to buy coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] can enroll through the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link], by phone at [insert phone number], or in person through [insert links and contact information].

Also, a few types of individuals are trained to help consumers make decisions about health coverage:

A. Insurance agents or brokers

Health insurance agents and brokers sell insurance coverage from one or more insurance companies. Health insurance agents and brokers are licensed by [insert name of state] and receive continuing education related to their job. They can help educate consumers about health insurance policies, help consumers apply for coverage, and advise consumers about the type of health insurance coverage that best suits them and their family. Agents and brokers can sell consumers insurance plans in the market outside the exchange, as they always have.

Agents and brokers who want to sell policies through the [insert name of state exchange] have extra training from the HHS or the state-based exchange. They have passed a test at the end of their training to sell insurance policies through the [insert name of state exchange]. [Insert name of state] requires agents and brokers to have extra state-specific training before they sell through the [insert name of state exchange]. A list of agents and brokers authorized to sell through the [insert name of state exchange] is available on the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link]. Consumers may want to talk with more than one agent or broker before they decide which plan to buy. (See Question 68.)

Drafting Note: If a state doesn't have a list of agents and brokers on the exchange, then modify the answer accordingly.

B. Navigators

Navigators are individuals trained to help consumers understand the insurance policies available through the [insert name of state exchange] and answer consumer questions about the [insert name of state exchange]. They also can answer questions about insurance affordability programs, including Medicaid and CHIP. Navigators also can help educate consumers about their health insurance policy options and help them apply for coverage. Navigators get grants from the [insert name of state exchange] to receive training to help consumers. After training, they must pass a test and be certified by [insert name of state exchange]. In [insert name of state], navigators also must have extra state-specific training before they can help consumers. Consumers can contact navigators at [insert state contact information]. (See Question 69.)

Drafting Note: States where the HHS will be doing training and certification should modify the preceding paragraph accordingly. The HHS will certify navigators in the federally-facilitated exchanges.

C. In-person assistance personnel

In-person assistance personnel generally do the same things as navigators. In-person assistance personnel have received and successfully completed comprehensive training. They also can help educate consumers about health insurance policies and help them apply for coverage. [Insert name of state] has set up an in-person assistance program. Consumers can contact in-person assistance personnel at [insert contact information].

Drafting Note: States should delete this section if they do not have in-person assistance personnel.

D. Certified application counselors

Certified application counselors provide enrollment assistance to consumers. Certified application counselors receive and successfully complete comprehensive training. They, too, can help educate consumers about health insurance plans and help them complete an application for coverage. In [insert name of state], examples of application counselors include staff at [insert name of local community health centers or hospitals or consumer nonprofit organizations].

Drafting Note: States will need to customize this section depending on the type of exchange they have and what kinds of individuals will be assisting consumers. More customization may be necessary if the state has any licensure or certification requirements.

Q 62: May consumers directly enroll for coverage through insurers?

Yes. Consumers may buy coverage directly from an insurance company. However, consumers should make sure that the coverage they buy is offered through the [insert state name of state exchange] and that the insurer has an agreement to do direct enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange] so they can get any tax credits or cost-sharing reductions to which they are entitled.

Consumers enrolling directly through the insurance company portal may not see all plans available through the [insert name of state exchange]. An insurance company portal may also offer plans that are not offered through the exchange. An enrollee who buys one of those plans is not eligible for premium tax credits

Drafting Note: States that do not allow insurers to enroll consumers directly into plans through the exchange should change this answer accordingly.

Q 63: How are people who help consumers enroll in health coverage paid?

Insurance agents and brokers may have an agreement that the insurance company will pay them if they enroll consumers in a health insurance policy consistent with state law. The state-based exchange may set rules about paying health insurance agents and brokers from the exchange or directly from insurance companies. In [insert name of state], the agent or broker will be paid an amount agreed to by the health insurance agent or broker and the company.

In [insert name of state], navigators will get funding from [insert funding source]. They don't get enrollment-based reimbursement from insurance companies and aren't allowed to charge a fee.

In-person assistance personnel will be paid by [insert funding source]. They don't get enrollment-based reimbursement from insurance companies and aren't allowed to charge a fee.

Certified application counselors will not be paid through the [insert name of state exchange]. They don't get enrollment-based reimbursement from insurance companies and aren't allowed to charge a fee. They may, however, receive federal funding through other grant programs, or Medicaid, or from another source.

Q 64: How can consumers find an insurance agent or broker to help them enroll in a plan?

In [insert state name], the [insert name of state health insurance exchange] website at [insert *link*] lists insurance agents and brokers authorized to enroll individuals, families, and small businesses in coverage through the [insert name of state

exchange]. Consumers can contact the [insert state Insurance Department] for a list of licensed health insurance agents and brokers in their area. Some agents and brokers don't contract with all health plans, so consumers must make sure they know the full list of plans that are available to them before they ask an agent or broker for help. Also, health insurance agents and brokers may or may not be able to help individuals complete the enrollment process for Medicaid or CHIP after they get an eligibility decision.

There's also helpful information at healthcare.gov https://localhelp.healthcare.gov/

Drafting Note: States should modify this answer consistent with the information available in the state.

Q 65: What are the qualifications required for health insurance agents and brokers to participate in the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert name of state], health insurance agents and brokers are regulated by the [insert name of state department of insurance]. Agents and brokers receive training from the [insert name of state exchange or the HHS]. The insurance companies must appoint the insurance agents and brokers who sell their plans through the [insert name of state exchange]. An agent or broker selling plans through the [insert name of state exchange] must provide information about all plans that are offered on the [insert name of state exchange], even if the agent or broker isn't authorized to sell some of those plans.

Drafting Note: States that don't require agents and brokers to be appointed to all the insurance companies selling through the exchange or that don't require agents to provide information about all plans available through the exchange should modify the previous paragraph accordingly.

Q 66: Where should consumers go if they have a problem enrolling in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?

The [insert name of state exchange] should be able to help consumers with any problems. In particular, [insert name of state exchange] operates a call center to help answer consumer questions. The number for the call center is [insert number]. The phone number is available on the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link]. Insurance agents and brokers, navigators, in-person assistance personnel, and certified application counselors also should be able to help. (See Question 61.) Consumers can also contact the [insert name of state insurance department] at [insert phone number] to file a complaint or report a concern about a negative experience with an insurance company, agent and broker, navigator, in-person assister, or certified application counselor during and after the enrollment process.

Q 67: Do consumers have to re-enroll annually?

Eligibility for premium assistance and enrollment in a health plan will be decided annually using updated income, family size, and tax information (when authorized). Each year, before the open enrollment period, the [insert name of state exchange] will check income data and send a notice to consumers who are determined eligible for enrollment in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]. This notice explains the consumer's eligibility for the upcoming year and tells the consumer to let the [insert name of state exchange] know of any changes. After this, there will be an annual open enrollment period for consumers to change plans or insurance companies if they want to.

All consumers are encouraged to go to the exchange to review all of their options and to update income and other information to ensure the correct subsidy is received. Those enrolled in a plan through the exchange in 2021 who are eligible for autorenewal and choose not to re-enroll or enroll in a different plan by December 15, 2021 will be automatically re-enrolled in their current or similar plan. For the 2022 coverage year, the key dates are as follows:

- November 1, 2021: Open enrollment starts—the first day a consumer can apply for 2022 coverage.
- **December 15, 2021**: The last date to enroll for coverage that starts January 1, 2022.
- December 31, 2021: The date when all 2021 exchange coverage ends, no matter when the consumer enrolled.
- **January 1, 2022**: The date 2022 coverage can start if consumers applied by December 15, 2021, or consumers were automatically re-enrolled in their 2021 plan or a similar plan.

• **January 15, 2022**: The last date to enroll in 2022 plan year coverage, with an effective date of February 1, 2022. Consumers who miss this deadline can't sign up for a comprehensive individual market health plan inside or outside the exchange or change plans unless they qualify for a special enrollment period (SEP). (See Question 11.)

During the year, consumers with coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] must report certain life changes to the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers should report changes as soon as possible, especially changes that qualify a consumer for a SEP. Consumers eligible for a SEP typically have 60 days to enroll in new coverage. (See Question 11.) Life changes include changes in income from a new job and getting married or divorced. See www.healthcare.gov/how-do-i-report-life-changes-to-the-marketplace/ [or cite to SBM if appropriate] for information about reporting life changes.

Consumers who have not requested financial assistance don't need to report changes related to financial assistance eligibility.

Drafting Note: Some state-based marketplaces may have different deadlines for automatic re-enrollment and end dates for open enrollment and the timeframes above should be revised accordingly.

Q 68: How do insurance agents and brokers help consumers with enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert name of state], health insurance companies appoint agents and brokers. Insurance companies make sure the agent's license is valid and registered with the [insert name of state exchange]. The agent can help consumers log on to the [insert name of state exchange] account. The agent or broker can help consumers as needed. The agent or broker then works with consumers to complete the application. Consumers are prompted to enter the insurance professional's [insert name of state exchange] user identification number and national producer number on the application to show that the professional helped them.

Drafting Note: States should change this answer as appropriate to reflect the process in the state.

Q 69: How does a navigator help consumers with enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert name of state], navigators can help consumers create an account and log on to the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers should log into their own [insert name of state exchange] account. The navigator can help consumers as needed to complete the application. Consumers may be prompted to enter the navigator's [insert name of state exchange] user identification number on the application to show that the navigator helped them.

The navigator can help consumers to compare health plans and answer questions about health insurance policies in general. The navigator can answer questions from consumers about the differences in health plans and what they might mean for them, but the navigator **CANNOT** recommend or suggest which health plan would be best for consumers and their families. Navigators aren't permitted to collect premium payments on behalf of an insurer or the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers are asked to enter the navigator's [insert name of state exchange] user identification number on the enrollment page to show that the navigator helped them.

Navigators **CANNOT** sell, solicit, or negotiate a health plan through the [insert name of state exchange]. They **CANNOT** suggest that one plan would be better for the individual than another.

Drafting Note: States should change this answer as appropriate to reflect the process in the state.

Q 70: How do in-person assisters or certified application counselors help consumers with enrollment through the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert name of state], the in-person assister or certified application counselor can help consumers create an account and log on to the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers should log in to their own [insert name of state exchange] account. The in-person assister or certified application counselor can help consumers as needed to complete the eligibility application. Consumers may be prompted to enter the in-person assister's or the certified application counselor's [insert name of state exchange] user identification number on the application to show that the assister or counselor helped them.

The in-person assister or certified application counselor can help consumers compare health plans and answer questions about health insurance policies in general. The assister or counselor can answer questions from the consumer about the differences in health plans and what they might mean to them (such as explaining deductibles or out-of-pocket limits), but the assister or counselor **CANNOT** recommend or suggest which health plan would be best for consumers and their families. Consumers are asked to enter the in-person assister's or certified application counselor's [insert name of state exchange] user identification number on the enrollment page to show that they helped them.

The in-person assister or certified application counselor **CANNOT** sell, solicit, or negotiate a health plan through the [insert name of state exchange]. They **CANNOT** suggest that one plan would be better for the individual than another.

Drafting Note: States should change this answer as appropriate to reflect the process in the state.

Q 71: Can small employers use licensed insurance agents or brokers to buy health insurance through [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

Yes. Licensed insurance agents and brokers are available to help small employers compare and determine which health plan best meets their needs, like they do today. This is true whether they're interested in buying coverage in the market outside the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] or through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange].

Licensed insurance agents and brokers are able to compare plans in the market outside the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] with those offered through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] to decide where they can buy the plan best for them. Employers may wish to talk with more than one agent or broker before making a decision about which plan to buy.

Q 72: May small employers use navigators to buy health insurance?

Navigators, by law, aren't allowed to sell health insurance unless they have an agent/broker license. Navigators are available to help small employers view plan options displayed on the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] website and can help small employers to enroll through the [insert name of SHOP exchange]. Navigators can explain the parts of the plans offered through the [insert name of state SHOP exchange] but CANNOT legally offer advice as to which plan is a better fit for the small employer. Only a licensed insurance agent or broker is qualified and allowed to offer this advice.

Q 73: How can an insurance agent or broker help a small employer participate the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

An insurance agent or broker can help any small employer, as has been true in the past. The agent or broker can help the employer decide which health insurance policy would be best for them, enroll employees in the plan, file health insurance claims, and understand the process of enrollment.

In the [insert name of state SHOP exchange], the HHS expects that insurance agents and brokers will be in contact with employers both before and after enrollment, as they will be a primary contact for customer service issues.

Q 74: What is the benefit of using an insurance agent to enroll in the [insert name of state exchange] or the [insert name of state SHOP exchange]?

Whether consumers are individuals or small group businesses, the insurance agent or broker can work with their needs and requirements. Agents and brokers have a working knowledge of the qualified health plans and their benefits. An agent or broker may help individual consumers or small employers create an account with the [insert name of state exchange] or [insert name of state SHOP exchange] if needed, but consumers, or a legally authorized representative, must create their own [insert name of state exchange] username and password. Consumers should not share this information with third parties, including insurance agents or brokers.

Q 75: Will an insurance agent or broker show consumers all of the plan choices available through the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert name of state], agents and brokers aren't required to show consumers all available health plans. If the consumer is using the [insert name of state exchange] website with the help of an agent or broker, then all QHP choices will be displayed. If the agent or broker goes through an insurance company portal, all plans available through the [insert name of state exchange] may not be shown, but other plans available in the market outside the exchange—that aren't eligible for the advance premium tax credit—may be shown. Consumers should ask the insurance agent or broker if they're being shown all of the plans available through the [insert name of state exchange] and whether tax credits or cost-sharing reductions apply to the plans they are looking at.

All agents and brokers must follow applicable [insert name of state] laws, regulations, and [insert name of state exchange] requirements, including standards related to relationships or appointments with insurance companies.

[Insert name of state] expects that the insurance agent or broker will tell consumers if the information given is about health plans with which the agent or broker has a business relationship and that consumers can always directly access the [insert name of state exchange] website. They'll find information about other available qualified health plans there. The [insert name of state] expects that insurance agents and brokers will advise consumers to check with the [insert name of state exchange] about available tax credits or cost-sharing reductions.

Drafting Note: States should modify this answer if agents and brokers are required to show consumers all options available through the exchange.

Q 76: Will consumers have to share their personal information, including their tax returns, with an agent or broker, navigator, in-person assistance personnel, or certified application counselor?

No. A consumer shouldn't share personal information, including tax returns, with an agent or broker, navigator, in-person assistance personnel, or certified application counselor. When consumers complete the application on the [insert name of state exchange] website with the help of an agent or broker, navigator, or assister, they should be able to fill out and submit their eligibility application without the agent, navigator, or assister in direct view of the application. While consumers applying for financial assistance are asked to enter their income, income figures from the IRS won't be shown during the application process, whether the consumer gets help filling out the application or does it independently. In [insert name of state], after completing the registration and training, agents or brokers, navigators, in-person assistance personnel, and certified application counselors must complete and comply with a privacy and security agreement and get a user ID to use with the [insert name of state exchange].

Q 77: Will consumers have to share their account username and password with an insurance agent or broker, navigator, in-person assister, or certified application counselor?

No. An agent or broker, navigator, in-person assistance personnel, or certified application counselor should never ask for a consumer's account username and password. If a consumer is asked to share a username or password, then he or she should immediately contact the [insert name of state insurance department] at [insert phone number] and discuss this with the consumer assistance representatives.

Q 78: What help should an insurance agent or broker, navigator, in-person assister, or certified application counselor give consumers if they or their dependents are eligible for Medicaid or CHIP?

Agents or brokers, navigators, in-person assisters, and certified application counselors will work with all consumers who ask for help with [insert name of state exchange] enrollment, including those eligible for Medicaid or CHIP. The [insert name of state exchange] will send a notice to consumers who are eligible for Medicaid or CHIP. An agent or broker, navigator, in-person assister, or certified application counselor working with these consumers is expected to refer consumers to the [insert name of state Medicaid and CHIP agency]. Agent and broker, navigator, in-person assister, and certified application counselor training will include information about where to direct Medicaid- or CHIP-eligible consumers.

Agents and brokers should be able to give consumers a referral to a navigator, in-person assister, certified application counselor, or the [insert name of state Medicaid agency]. Navigators, in-person assisters, and certified application counselors should help all consumers seeking assistance with completing an application through the [insert name of state exchange]. If the [insert name of state exchange] assesses the consumer as Medicaid- or CHIP-eligible, then the navigator, in-person © 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 31

assister, or certified application counselor may refer the consumer to the state Medicaid agency for more information. Navigators, in-person assisters, and certified application counselors often are not required to help consumers fill out a state Medicaid application if it is different from the application used by the [insert name of state exchange], but they can refer consumers to appropriate resources in those cases.

Q 79: May an insurance agent or broker continue to work with consumers once they're enrolled in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]?

Insurance agents and brokers may continue to communicate with consumers after they've enrolled in a plan through the [insert name of state exchange], as long as the communications follow any laws and regulations that apply.

The communications also must follow the privacy and security standards the [insert name of state exchange] has adopted (pursuant to 45 C.F.R. §155.260). These standards limit how an agent or broker may use any information gained to provide help and services to qualified consumers.

COSTS AND ASSISTANCE WITH COSTS

Q 80: Is there cost-sharing for contraceptives?

With the exception of health plans sponsored by certain employers that have religious or moral objections to contraception, all plans, including those offered through the [insert state name of state exchange], must cover in-network doctor-prescribed FDA-approved methods of contraception without cost-sharing.

For specific information about a plan's contraceptive coverage, consumers should check the plan's SBC (see Question 18) or ask their employer or benefits administrator. There's more information about contraceptive coverage on the federal website at www.healthcare.gov/coverage/birth-control-benefits/ and www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/fact-sheets-and-fags/downloads/aca implementation fags26.pdf

Q 81: How much do plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange] cost?

There are a variety of plans intended to fit different budgets, both through the [insert name of state exchange] and in the market outside the exchange. Also, many consumers purchasing coverage through [insert name of state exchange] qualify for the premium tax credits (see Questions 84-85), which pay for part of their premium and help lower the cost of coverage. Consumers whose incomes are below a certain amount may be eligible for a premium tax credit and a Silver plan that features lower cost-sharing and lower out-of-pocket costs (copayments, coinsurance and deductibles) without paying a higher premium. Check with the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert link] or direct the consumer to an online calculator to estimate whether they may qualify for subsidies: https://www.kff.org/interactive/subsidy-calculator/

To see specific costs of plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange], go to [insert state exchange website], call [insert state exchange telephone number], or talk to a navigator, certified application counselor, in-person assister, insurance agent or broker, or other assister. (See Question 61.)

Q 82: Do plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange] have large out-of-pocket costs?

The health insurance plans available through the [insert name of state exchange] feature a variety of out-of-pocket costs for consumers. But, the ACA requires that all non-grandfathered plans (including most plans that people get from an employer) limit consumers' annual out-of-pocket costs for in-network essential health benefits (EHB) services to no more than \$8,700 for individuals and \$17,400 for families in 2022. These maximum out-of-pocket amounts will go up in future years. However, out-of-network services do not count toward these limits on annual out-of-pocket costs. (See Question 27.) There are separate out-of-pocket maximums for stand-alone dental plans.

Plans are required to cover certain preventive services without cost-sharing. (See Question 24.) Also, consumers whose incomes are below a certain amount may be eligible for a premium tax credit and a Silver plan, which features lower cost-sharing and lower out-of-pocket costs (copayments, coinsurance and deductibles) without paying a higher premium. Check © 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 32

with the [insert name of state exchange] at [insert *link*] or direct the consumer to an online calculator to estimate whether they may qualify for subsidies: https://www.kff.org/interactive/subsidy-calculator/

Navigators, certified application counselors, in-person assisters, agents or brokers, or other assisters should be able to help consumers learn if they qualify. Also, the exchange application tells consumers whether they might be eligible for Medicaid or CHIP programs, which have very limited out-of-pocket costs.

Q 83: Where can consumers inquire to learn if they're eligible for help paying premiums or for Medicaid?

Consumers may apply with the [insert name of state exchange] or the [insert name of state Medicaid agency].

The [insert name of state exchange] determines eligibility for advance payments of premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions. The [insert name of state exchange] also assesses Medicaid and CHIP eligibility and makes a referral, if appropriate, to the [insert name of state Medicaid agency] for a final determination.

Consumers also may apply directly with the [insert name of state Medicaid agency]. The [insert name of state Medicaid agency] will enroll eligible consumers in Medicaid or CHIP, or send their information to the [insert name of state exchange] to determine their eligibility for advance payments of the premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions if they aren't eligible for Medicaid or CHIP.

Drafting Note: States with a different process will need to modify this answer accordingly.

Q 84: Is there help for consumers who can't afford coverage?

Yes, consumers with low or moderate incomes can qualify for reduced costs, through Medicaid, CHIP, or exchange coverage, but eligibility rules apply. Most states use federal government funds to expand Medicaid so that it covers adults with an income at or lower than 138% of the federal poverty level. In 2022, that is roughly \$17,800 for a family of one and \$36,400 for a family of four. Consumers should contact the [insert name of state exchange] or the [insert name of state Medicaid agency] directly if they think they might be eligible for Medicaid.

In [insert name of state], children may be able to get coverage through Medicaid or CHIP programs for which their parents aren't eligible. Some families may find it more affordable to enroll their children in Medicaid or CHIP and buy coverage for the parents through the exchange.

Drafting Note: States may need to modify the answer to this question depending on the state's decisions regarding Medicaid expansion.

Q 85: Who's eligible for premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions?

The ACA created premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions to help cut costs for eligible consumers who buy a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]. (See Question 84.) The amount of the tax credit or cost-sharing reduction depends on family size and income and varies on a sliding scale: Larger families and families with lower incomes get the most help. Tax credits and cost-sharing reductions aren't available for individuals who are eligible for Medicaid, CHIP, Medicare, or qualifying employer-sponsored coverage. Consumers who forget to update the [insert name of state exchange] about changes in their eligibility for other coverage might owe money at tax time. More information about tax credits and cost-sharing reductions is available at www.healthcare.gov

This link allows consumers to estimate how much financial help is available for them: <u>www.healthcare.gov/lower-costs/qualifying-for-lower-costs/</u>

Q 86: How do premium tax credits to buy coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] work?

Consumers who qualify for premium tax credits can either receive them in advance, or they can wait until they file their taxes. The advance payment is sent to the insurance company that offers the plan the consumer has chosen and is used to

reduce the monthly insurance premium. Consumers also have the choice to wait to receive their tax credits until they file their federal income tax return. They also can use just part of their estimated tax credit in advance.

Consumers who want to use their tax credit in advance need to be as accurate as possible to estimate how much income they expect to have in the year they get coverage. If they underestimate their income and the tax credit is overestimated, then they may have to repay part of their tax credit at tax time.

Consumers need to update the [insert name of state exchange] during the year about any changes in income, family size (like having a baby), employment (like getting a job where health coverage is offered), or becoming eligible for Medicare. The [insert name of state exchange] will change the tax credit amount to reflect the new information. Consumers who forget to update the [insert name of state exchange] about such changes might owe money at tax time or realize they could have been using a larger tax credit amount in advance.

Consumers who don't use the tax credit in advance don't have to tell the [insert name of state exchange] about any changes to their income or employment during the year. They can get the tax credit on their tax returns.

Consumers may go to the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert link] or call the [insert name of the state exchange] at [insert telephone number] for more information about tax credits. Navigators, certified application counselors, in-person assisters, agents or brokers, or other assisters also are able to give consumers information about the tax credit. There's more information about premium tax credits on the federal website www.healthcare.gov

Q 87: Is an individual who is a victim of domestic abuse and separated (but not divorced) from his or her spouse eligible for subsidies on the exchange?

Yes. In general, married couples must file a joint tax return in order to be eligible for a premium tax credit and cost-sharing reductions. For victims of domestic abuse, however, contacting their spouse to file a joint return may present a risk and may be legally prohibited if a restraining order is in place. As a result, married individuals who are victims of domestic abuse may still be eligible for subsidies if they are living separately from their spouse. Consumers in this situation should list "unmarried" on their exchange application and can do that without fear of penalty for misstating their marital status. For more information, see www.healthcare.gov/income-and-household-information/household-size or www.irs.gov

Q 88: If a consumer is eligible for premium tax credits, is there a grace period before a company can terminate the consumer for non-payment of premiums?

Yes. The ACA requires insurance companies to give enrollees who receive premium tax credits a 90-day grace period for non-payment of premiums before the policy can be terminated, provided the enrollee has paid at least one month's premium. Claims must be paid during the first 30 days of the grace period, but the insurer may suspend payments to providers during the remainder of the grace period. In order to keep coverage at the end of the grace period, a consumer's account must be fully paid within 90 days of missing a premium payment. For example, a consumer who misses a payment in July but makes payments in August and September will be terminated in October if he or she has not also paid the missing payment from July. And, a company may deny coverage in the next year if the consumer is in the grace period. For example, a consumer who misses a payment in November and December may be denied coverage in January if they haven't paid premiums due the year before.

Drafting Note: States should review their laws for other grace periods that might apply.

Q 89: What should consumers do if they find themselves enrolled in both exchange coverage with premium tax credits and Medicaid, CHIP, or Medicare?

The [insert name of exchange] conducts periodic data matching to identify individuals enrolled in both private insurance with premium tax credits and Medicaid/CHIP and sends notices to those consumers. Upon receiving the notice, consumers may end their exchange coverage with premium tax credits by contacting the exchange.

When individuals become eligible for Medicaid, CHIP, or Medicare while enrolled in an exchange plan, they will no longer be eligible for any premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions. If a consumer wants to maintain exchange coverage while enrolled in Medicaid or CHIP, they will have to pay the full premium. Private plans generally may not cover an individual for the same benefits covered by Medicare, so people who become eligible for Medicare while enrolled in [insert name of exchange] should immediately notify the exchange to end their coverage and enroll in Medicare.

A consumer who wants to maintain exchange coverage while enrolled in Medicaid/CHIP may apply for coverage without financial assistance during the annual open enrollment period or a special enrollment period (SEP). Consumers who are no longer enrolled in Medicaid/CHIP or the exchange with premium tax credits after the data match don't need to do anything else. However, they might opt to contact their state Medicaid or CHIP agency to confirm that they aren't enrolled. Consumers who are enrolled in both Medicaid/CHIP and private insurance with premium tax credits should end exchange coverage with premium tax credits, because consumers determined eligible for Medicaid/CHIP aren't eligible for exchange coverage with premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions.

When a consumer is enrolled in exchange coverage with premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions and simultaneously covered by Medicaid, CHIP, or Medicare, the consumer likely will have to pay back all or some of the tax credits received for the months after they were determined to be eligible for Medicare or Medicaid/CHIP. Consumers who receive the notice but have more recently been denied eligibility for Medicaid or CHIP do not need to take any further action with [insert name of state exchange], but they may want to contact their state Medicaid or CHIP agency to confirm that they're not enrolled.

QUESTIONS ABOUT OTHER TYPES OF COVERAGE

Q 90: What is available in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange]?

In [insert state name], health insurance coverage is also available in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange]. However, if consumers want to take advantage of premium tax credits to help pay for part of their premiums or for cost-sharing assistance, then they must buy coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]. (See Question 84 and Question 85.)

Consumers may buy plans in the market outside the exchange that aren't required to cover the essential health benefits (EHB), such as fixed indemnity plans, short-term policies, or insurance coverage and discount plans that include only specialty or ancillary services (for example, hearing, chiropractic, etc.) Note, though, that these policies don't have to comply with ACA reforms such as the requirement that plans cover pre-existing conditions. (See Question 4.) The NAIC has some resources discussing these types of plans:

https://www.naic.org/documents/health_insurance_what_to_ask.pdf https://www.naic.org/documents/consumer_alert_health_sharing_ministries.htm

Contact [insert state Department of Insurance contact] or an insurance agent or broker for help.

Q 91: What are short-term plans?

Under federal law, short-term plans are those with an initial term of no more than 364 days that include a statement describing potential coverage limitations. Short-term plans may be renewed at the option of the insurer, but the same policy may only be in effect for up to three years in total. Short-term plans are not required to comply with many of the consumer protections of the ACA. For instance, they may charge different premiums based on an applicant's health conditions, exclude essential health benefits, and exclude coverage for pre-existing conditions.

Drafting note: States with their own regulations on short-term plans should add a statement that describes allowable short-term plans, including duration restrictions, rating requirements, or benefit mandates.

Q 92: If consumers already have coverage, may they buy separate policies for their children?

Consumers who already have coverage for themselves are eligible to buy a policy for a child through the [insert name of state exchange]. The ACA requires that any health plan offered through the exchange also must be offered as a child-only plan at the same tier of coverage. Consumers also may be eligible for tax credits for child-only plans they buy through the [insert

name of state exchange]. Visit the [insert name of state exchange] website at [insert website for the state exchange] for more information about child-only plans available through the [insert name of state exchange].

However, children who aren't legal residents of the United States aren't eligible for child-only plans through the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers may be able to buy a child-only policy in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange], either directly from an insurer or through an agent or broker. For a list of licensed insurers in [insert name of state], visit the [name of state department of insurance] website at [insert *link*]. A child also may be eligible for Medicaid (contact [insert name of state Medicaid agency] at [insert contact information]) or coverage through [insert state Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)]. To learn more about CHIP plans, visit www.insurekidsnow.gov

ACA MEDICARE-RELATED QUESTIONS

Q 93: Who should consumers contact with questions about Medicare, Medicare Supplement insurance, or Medicare Advantage Plans?

Medicare coverage, Medicare Supplement insurance (Medigap), and Medicare Advantage plans aren't available through the [insert name of state exchange]. Consumers who are currently enrolled in Medicare may not buy coverage through the exchange. Enrollees who are enrolled in Medicare because of end stage renal disease (ESRD) can enroll in a Medicare Advantage plan beginning in 2021. Questions involving the ACA and Medicare, Medicare Supplement insurance, or Medicare Advantage Plans can be referred to [insert name of State Health Insurance Program (SHIP)] at [insert contact information]. The federal government's Medicare website, www.medicare.gov, also has more information about health reform and Medicare changes.

Q 94: Are people who pay premiums for Medicare Part A able to enroll through the [insert name of exchange]?

Individuals who aren't entitled to premium-free Medicare Part A may buy coverage through [insert name of exchange] instead of paying the Part A premium and being enrolled in Part A, and they may also be eligible for a tax credit. This includes those beneficiaries who only enrolled in Medicare Part B because they couldn't afford the Part A premium. In both cases, these beneficiaries must disenroll from Medicare Part A, if they have it, and from Medicare Part B, if they have it. There are consequences to substituting a qualified health plan (QHP) for Medicare. Consumers may pay higher premiums for Medicare if they decide to enroll in Medicare in the future and may have a gap in benefits. The [insert name of SHIP] at [insert contact information] should be able to give consumers more information about their choices.

Q 95: Can a person with ESRD (End Stage Renal Disease) enroll in or stay in an Exchange plan *instead* of enrolling in Medicare?

If a consumer with ESRD has not applied for Medicare, then she or he can stay in or apply for coverage through the [insert name of exchange]. However, there are consequences of delaying Medicare benefits. Individuals with ESRD may not be eligible for certain Medicare benefits if they enroll in Medicare in the future, may pay a higher premium for late enrollment, or may have a delay in benefits when they begin. The [insert name of SHIP] at [insert contact information] should be able to give consumers more information about these complex choices.

Drafting Note: Medicare beneficiaries with ESRD can enroll in Medicare Advantage Plans.

Q 96: If individuals become eligible for Medicare and are already in a QHP, can they stay in their plan?

A person who stays in a QHP* and is eligible for or enrolled in Medicare is no longer eligible to receive any tax credits. If the consumer has been receiving an advance premium tax credit, then the consumer must report eligibility for Medicare to the [insert name of state exchange] to end the tax credit. A consumer who does not do this will be liable to repay the tax credits for which they were not eligible.

Without the enrollee's authorization, a QHP may not terminate coverage from a policy in which the individual was enrolled upon becoming eligible for Medicare. However, a QHP is not designed to coordinate its benefits with Medicare. Both the premium and the benefits of a QHP are designed to provide primary coverage, not supplemental coverage. Depending on state law, a QHP may reduce its benefits to pay covered expenses that remain after Medicare pays, but the premium will stay © 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 36

the same. This may happen even if the individual does not sign up for Part B of Medicare. Consumers are encouraged to enroll in Medicare when they are eligible to avoid premium penalties and delayed benefits later. The [insert name of SHIP] at [insert contact information] should be able to give consumers more information about how and when to enroll in Medicare and any penalties that can apply.

*Note that this information (except for the tax credit) applies to individual coverage inside and outside an exchange.

Q 97: Is there anything consumers and their dependents who are already on Medicare and have employer-based coverage need to do because of the ACA?

Generally, there's nothing consumers need to do because of the ACA if they're already on Medicare and have employer-based coverage. If consumers have coverage through a large employer and that employer's current benefits pay first and Medicare pays second, then the ACA didn't change that.

If the employer changes the benefits that cover consumers or their dependents, then they will send consumers a notice about those changes. Consumers can ask their employer's human resources department how those changes work with Medicare.

The [insert name of SHIP] at [insert contact information] should be able to give consumers more information about how their existing coverage works with Medicare.

Q 98: Is there anything consumers and their dependents who are already on Medicare and have retiree coverage from an employer need to do because of the ACA?

The ACA didn't change retiree benefits. Consumers should contact their employer's human resources department for help. Consumers who need more information about how Medicare and retiree benefits work together can contact the SHIP at [insert contact information].

Q 99: Will consumers with Medicare Supplement insurance be affected by the ACA?

No. The ACA doesn't change the cost-sharing for Medicare supplement policies.

O 100: How will consumers' Medicare prescription drug "donut hole" be affected?

The ACA began closing the "donut hole" in 2011, and it was closed entirely effective for 2019. The donut hole was closed by combining a discount on the cost of brand-name drugs and a gradual increase in the share of prescription drug costs for both generics and brand name drugs that the Medicare Part D plan pays, until a beneficiary only owes 25% of the total cost. In the standard plan, Medicare beneficiaries whose prescription drug costs are greater than the Part D deductible will need to pay only a 25% coinsurance rate (after meeting the plan's deductible, if any) until their expenditures reach the catastrophic level. In other plans, cost-sharing may vary.

For more information, contact Medicare at <u>www.medicare.gov</u> or 1-800-MEDICARE or the [insert name of SHIP] at [insert contact information].

Q 101: What about long term care (LTC) insurance policies?

The [insert name of state exchange] doesn't include long term care (LTC) insurance policies, and policies sold on the [insert name of state exchange] don't typically cover LTC services. Insurance agents and brokers still sell LTC insurance outside the exchange. The HHS website https://acl.gov/ltchas information about LTC insurance and the NAIC has produced a Shopper's Guide available at https://www.naic.org/documents/prod_serv_consumer_ltc_lp.pdf

ACA MEDICAID-RELATED QUESTIONS

Q 102: Where can consumers find more information about Medicaid?

Contact the [insert name of state Medicaid agency] at [insert contact information] with any questions or concerns about Medicaid and the ACA. Also, the HHS website has basic information about Medicaid posted at www.healthcare.gov

Q 103: Did consumers' eligibility for Medicaid change under the ACA?

The ACA provides funds for states to expand their eligibility for Medicaid. Childless adults with income below 138% of the federal poverty level generally were not eligible for Medicaid prior to the ACA. Most states have used ACA funds to open eligibility to this group. The pre-ACA Medicaid eligibility categories continue to be eligible for Medicaid, although the financial method to decide eligibility has changed. Medicaid-eligible consumers include children, pregnant women, parents (or other caretaker relatives), blind, disabled, or elderly, and they still need to meet the financial eligibility test set by [insert name of state]. Contact the [insert state Medicaid agency] at [insert contact information] for more information.

Drafting Note: States that have not expanded Medicaid should modify this answer as appropriate.

There is more information about who is eligible for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program at this link: https://www.healthcare.gov/medicaid-chip/

Q 104: What is the expanded Medicaid eligibility category under the ACA?

Adults who weren't eligible for Medicaid in the past may be eligible under the ACA. [Insert name of state] has decided to expand Medicaid coverage to new groups, now covering childless adults with household income under 138% of the federal poverty level. Contact the [insert name of state Medicaid agency] at [insert contact information] for more information.

Drafting Note: States that have not expanded Medicaid will need to revise this answer accordingly.

There is more information about who is eligible for Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program at this link: https://www.healthcare.gov/medicaid-chip/

Q 105: What is the federal poverty level (FPL), and why is it important in the context of health care coverage?

The FPL is how the federal government defines poverty, and it's used to decide who's eligible for federal subsidies and entitlement programs. In states that expanded Medicaid, childless adults under 65 with incomes up to 138% of the FPL (or about \$36,000 for a family of four) generally can get Medicaid coverage. Children, parents, pregnant women, seniors, and people with disabilities have different income limits. People with incomes above these levels may be eligible for premium tax credits to help them buy a plan through the [insert name of state exchange]. Cost-sharing reductions are available until a family's income reaches 250% of the FPL. Individuals who are eligible for both Medicare and Medicaid, or whose incomes don't exceed certain amounts, may be eligible for one of several low-income programs to supplement their Medicare benefits. The [insert name of SHIP] at [insert contact information] should be able to give consumers more information about their eligibility for these low-income programs.

Drafting Note: States that didn't expand Medicaid will need to revise the previous paragraph accordingly.

This link has general information about income levels at which financial help or coverage is available, as well as what counts as income: www.healthcare.gov/lower-costs/qualifying-for-lower-costs/

Q 106: What benefits are available for childless adults eligible for Medicaid?

Each state that expanded Medicaid has defined the benefit package for this newly-eligible group. The benchmark benefit package needs to at least include the essential health benefits (EHB) available through the [insert name of state exchange]. (See Question 16.) Contact the [insert name of state Medicaid agency] at [insert contact information] for more information.

O 107: Are undocumented immigrants eligible for Medicaid?

Undocumented immigrants are not eligible for most categories of Medicaid coverage, but may receive services in emergency circumstances.

Q 108: How do consumers apply for Medicaid?

Consumers can apply online through the [insert name of state exchange]. They also can apply by mail, fax, or in person. If a consumer applies through the [insert name of state exchange], then his or her eligibility for Medicaid also will be assessed, and the consumer's application will be transferred to the [insert name of state Medicaid agency] for final determination. Under the law, there's "no wrong door" to apply for health coverage, whether it's through [insert name of state Medicaid agency], CHIP, or the [insert name of state exchange]. If a consumer isn't eligible for Medicaid, then the consumer's eligibility for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] and for premium tax credits or cost-sharing reductions will be evaluated.

Q 109: Will consumers still need to submit documents to prove their income?

As much as possible, the [insert name of state exchange] uses existing data sources or gets information from various federal and state agencies, such as the IRS, to verify income. The rules are designed to ensure a high degree of program integrity and reduce the amount of paperwork that consumers need to provide.

Some consumers will be asked to provide documents to prove their income. There are separate processes to verify income to qualify for Medicaid and CHIP and for premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions. To verify income for Medicaid, CHIP, premium tax credits, and cost-sharing reductions, [insert name of state exchange] will use data from the IRS, the Social Security Administration (SSA), and other income data sources.

For Medicaid and CHIP, issues that come up about verifying income will be resolved through a process of explanations and documentation. For premium tax credits and cost-sharing reductions, most verification issues will be resolved through a process of explanations and documentation. But, to limit the administrative burden, the [insert name of state exchange] may use a sample-based review in some cases.

COMMON CONCERNS ABOUT HOW THE ACA AFFECTS CONSUMERS

Q 110: Does the ACA eliminate private health insurance?

No. There is still private health insurance under the ACA. The ACA created health insurance exchanges (see Questions 5-6) where consumers can compare and shop for private insurance plans. The ACA also sets many new federal rules and protections that apply to people who buy private health insurance in each state. (See Questions 2 and 4.)

Q 111: Does the ACA include rules about insurance premiums?

For individual and small group health insurance market plans covered by the ACA's rating rules, premiums may only vary based on an individual's age, the area of the state in which the policy is sold, tobacco use, and family composition. For covered plans, these are the only factors that an insurance company can use when it sets premiums. Covered plans can't refuse to insure or charge higher premiums to consumers with medical problems. The ACA also reduces the difference in premiums covered plans charge for younger and older people and eliminates differences between premiums charged for men and women. These rating rules cover individual and small group health plans offered through the exchanges or outside of them, but do not apply to short-term, limited duration plans.

To help make coverage affordable, many consumers who buy qualified health plans through the individual market exchanges are eligible for premium tax credits. Also, consumers under age 30 or who obtain a hardship exemption may be eligible to buy catastrophic plans, which cost less.

Drafting Note: States may want to link to rate submissions and final approvals. States that don't allow the tobacco surcharge or use a different ratio than 1.5:1 should note that health insurance companies are prevented from charging consumers a higher premium for being a tobacco user or are limited in the amount of tobacco surcharge they can apply.

Q 112: Does the ACA address discrimination?

ACA explicitly prohibits insurance companies from discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability.

Section 1557 of the ACA prohibits discrimination by any health program or activity receiving funds from HHS. The scope of this prohibition was first outlined via final rule in 2016, which broadly defined the areas of prohibited discrimination. Gender identity was a controversial inclusion in the rule. On June 12, 2020, a final rule was published that changed the 2016 regulations to limit the applicability. One of the changes in the 2020 rule was to remove the prohibition on discrimination based on gender identity. On June 15, 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court held that discrimination on the basis of sex included discrimination based on gender identity. HHS announced that effective May 10, 2021, it would interpret and enforce § 1557's prohibition on discrimination to include discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity.

Health insurers, however, must follow any state laws and regulations that apply to marketing and can't use marketing practices or benefit designs that will discourage individuals with significant health needs from enrolling. Health insurers must also provide meaningful access for individuals with limited English proficiency and post taglines in the languages spoken by persons with limited English proficiency.

Insurance companies won't pay for services not covered by a plan, such as care that isn't medically necessary. Consumers have the right to ask their insurance company to reconsider a decision to deny coverage and, after that, consumers have the right to an independent external review of the decision. (See Question 117.)

Q 113: What are the income tax implications of the ACA?

The [insert name of department of insurance] does not interpret or enforce obligations under the tax code. Consumers can contact the IRS or their tax advisor for information.

Q 114: Where else can consumers find answers to health insurance questions?

[Insert links to State DOI, Exchange, Medicaid, navigator organizations, etc.]

Q 115: What does the health plan "accreditation status" information on the exchange website mean?

Accreditation is a comprehensive process by private, nonprofit organizations that review how well health plans deliver care and how they work to improve the delivery of care over time. Health plans offered through the [insert name of state exchange] must be certified by a recognized accrediting body, such as URAQ and/or the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA).

Part of the certification requires that the plan is accredited by a recognized accrediting entity within a time frame set by the [insert name of state exchange]. Accreditation ensures that the plans sold on the [insert name of state exchange] meet minimum quality, access, nondiscrimination, and marketing standards in the ACA.

Q 116: What does the health plan "consumer experience" information on the [insert name of state exchange] website mean?

Consumer experience ratings come from surveys that ask individuals who have coverage through a health insurance plan how they like the plan. These individuals also rate the quality of the medical care they receive and the accessibility of the medical care that they need.

Q 117: What appeal rights do consumers have?

Consumers have a right to appeal an unfavorable coverage decision by their health insurance company. Insurance companies must give consumers owning an individual policy a first-level internal appeal, administered by the company, and if the company upholds its initial unfavorable coverage decision, then it must provide an external review administered by an independent third party. Consumers in individual policies may also be able to request a *voluntary* second-level internal appeal. However, those two levels of internal appeals must also be done within the time limit imposed by the law for all internal appeal process, whether one or two levels. Expedited review for emergency situations is available. For group policies, the insurance company may require two levels of internal appeals before the external review option. For more information about how to appeal a health insurance company's unfavorable decision, the consumer can refer to the notice of the insurance company's unfavorable coverage decision (often referred to an Explanation of Benefits, or EOB), plan or policy documents, or contact [insert state insurance department] at [insert telephone number].

Consumers also can file complaints with [insert name of state insurance department] when claims are denied, or when they believe that their health insurance company isn't properly following the legal appeals process. Consumers can contact the state insurance department at [insert contact information].

Note that there is a separate appeals process if a consumer is dissatisfied with an eligibility decision made by [insert name of state exchange]. The consumer can contact [insert name of state exchange] for more information.

Q 118: Where do consumers file a complaint for a product sold through the [insert name of state exchange]? What about plans sold in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange]?

Consumers should first contact the insurance company with any complaint about benefits or services they're not receiving. If consumers aren't satisfied, they should contact the [insert name of state exchange] for help with questions or complaints.

The [insert state department of insurance] investigates complaints about insurance companies and can either look up consumers' complaints or direct consumers to the right place to file a [insert name of state exchange] related complaint. The [insert state insurance department] is ready to help consumers with any question or complaint they may have about their coverage. To find out more about filing appeals, consumers can contact the [insert state department of insurance] at [insert contact information].

Q 119: If consumers apply for coverage in the market outside the [insert name of state exchange], what are the rules regarding open and special enrollment?

In [insert name of state], insurance companies sell policies in the market outside the exchange. Enrollment periods for coverage outside the [insert name of state exchange] generally are the same as enrollment periods through the exchange. (See Question 11.) Contact the [insert name of state department of insurance] at [insert contact information], or an insurance agent or broker for more information about enrollment.

If someone is not eligible to enroll in health coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or does not want to enroll in coverage through the [insert name of state exchange], insurers must make policies available in the [insert name of state exchange] available outside the [insert name of state exchange], although the policies aren't required to be marketed as available outside the [insert name of state exchange].

For more information about special enrollment periods (SEPs), see this link: https://www.healthreformbeyondthebasics.org/sep-reference-chart/

QUESTIONS INVOLVING SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES AND POPULATIONS

Q 120: What is available for consumers with chronic conditions? Does the ACA help them get better coverage?

Yes. All plans subject to the ACA must insure consumers with a chronic or pre-existing medical condition, must cover pre-existing conditions, and can't charge higher premiums because of a health or medical condition. They are also required to offer comprehensive coverage. Discrimination on the basis of age, disability, or expected length of life is prohibited.

© 2021 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 41

Coverage for these benefits is available from the beginning of the policy coverage period, without a waiting period, even if there was no prior coverage. Many plans include wellness programs to help consumers manage chronic conditions.

Q 121: What options are there for consumers with children who aren't citizens or legal residents?

Consumers won't be able to buy a policy through the [insert name of state exchange] for those children who aren't lawfully present, but they may be able to buy a policy directly from an insurance company or through an agent. Insurers that sell policies through the exchange must make those policies available upon request to individuals, including children, who are not eligible to participate in the [insert name of state exchange]. For a list of licensed insurance companies in [insert name of state], visit [insert link]. Lawfully-present children also may be eligible for [insert name of state Medicaid and CHIP]. To learn more about these plans, go to www.insurekidsnow.gov

Q 122: Are immigrants not legally present eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or for premium tax credits?

No. Immigrants not legally present aren't eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]. They also aren't eligible for advance payment of premium tax credits. Insurers that sell policies through the exchange, however, must make those policies available upon request to individuals, including children, who aren't eligible to participate in the [insert name of state exchange].

Q 123: Are incarcerated people eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or for premium tax credits?

No. Incarcerated people generally aren't eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]. They also aren't eligible for advance payments of the premium tax credits. Consumers who are incarcerated pending the disposition of charges are eligible. Insurers that sell policies through the exchange must make those policies available upon request to individuals, including children, who are not eligible to participate in the [insert name of state exchange].

Q 124: Are tribal members eligible for coverage through the [insert name of state exchange] or for premium tax credits?

Yes. Tribal members may buy coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]. Tribal members have access to enrollment continuously. They're also eligible for premium tax credits. And, because of the federal government's special trust responsibility, members of federally-recognized Indian tribes are eligible to receive benefits not available to others, such as plans with no cost-sharing, under certain circumstances. For more information, go to www.healthcare.gov or the website for the Indian Health Service (IHS) agency within the HHS at www.ihs.gov/

QUESTIONS ABOUT MLR

Q 125: What is the Medical Loss Ratio (MLR) requirement?

The ACA's MLR requirement is that health insurers must spend at least a certain percentage of consumers' premium dollars on direct medical care and health care quality improvement. The MLR limits the amount of premium dollars spent on administrative expenses, such as overhead, marketing, salaries, and profit.

The ACA requires that health insurance companies providing coverage in the large employer market (usually 50 or more employees) must spend at least 85% of premiums on direct medical care and quality improvement activities. Health insurers who provide coverage in the small employer market (usually fewer than 50 employees) and individual market must spend at least 80% of premiums on direct medical care and quality improvement activities, or they must rebate (refund) the extra premium.

O 126: What is an MLR Rebate?

Under federal law, if a health insurer doesn't meet the MLR target (described in Question 125), then that health insurer must give consumers or employers a rebate for the amount of premiums it collected that was greater than the target.

Q 127: How can consumers learn if their insurer paid rebates?

Companies that pay rebates send notices to enrollees. The list of the rebates paid can be found at www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Resources/Data-Resources/mlr.html

QUESTIONS ABOUT WHETHER A PLAN IS LEGITIMATE

Q 128: Why is this a time to be especially on guard against health insurance fraud?

Health insurance rules and regulations are constantly changing. Con artists posing as representatives of the federal government or posing as legitimate insurance agents, brokers, or navigators might try to steal consumers' money, identity, or health information through various health insurance schemes. For instance, criminals might try to convince consumers to reveal personal information to receive a "national health insurance card" or a new Medicare card under the ACA. Or they may also try to sell consumers health insurance policies that are fake, worthless, or not what they claim to be. These scams are often attempted through automated telephone calls or websites that mimic legitimate sites.

Q 129: Can consumers get help from their current insurance agent or insurance company to buy health insurance coverage through the [insert name of state exchange]?

Yes. Working with individuals known personally or known to be working for a licensed agency or company is a dependable way to avoid fraud.

Q 130: If consumers don't have a relationship with an insurance agent or company, where should they go for help?

When consumers contact the [insert name of state exchange], they'll have the option to contact a navigator specifically trained to help them choose the best health insurance product for their needs.

Drafting Note: States without navigators should update this response to provide alternates sources for consumer assistance.

Q 131: If someone comes to consumers' homes, calls consumers out of the blue, or sends emails to offer consumers health insurance coverage for a terrific premium, how will consumers know whether the person and the health insurance coverage are legitimate?

Remember this simple formula: STOP - CALL - CONFIRM.

STOP – Consumers should ask the person for identification and a phone number where they may be reached later. If the person refuses to give this information for any reason, or tries to pressure them into signing any document, then consumers should immediately hang up, close their door, or walk away.

Consumers should NOT volunteer their Social Security number (SSN) or a credit/debit card number to anyone unless they personally know the individual. Likewise, they should NOT sign any paperwork or write a check.

CALL – Consumers then should contact the [insert name of state department of insurance] or the [insert name of state exchange]. The insurance company or agent or broker, as well as the navigator, must be registered or licensed with the [insert state department of insurance] before they can sell coverage or counsel consumers through the [insert name of state exchange].

Drafting Note: States should modify the previous paragraph as necessary to reference the entity charged with registering or licensing navigators.

CONFIRM – Consumers should always confirm that the company, agent, or broker offering insurance coverage, or the navigator trying to providing assistance, is authorized to provide information or coverage before they sign any documents or give any personal information.

Remember that if something seems too good to be true, it usually is.

Health Care Reform FAQ 2021

Draft: 10/29/21

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Virtual Meeting October 14, 2021

The Consumer Information (B) Subgroup of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee met October 14, 2021. The following Subgroup members participated: Mary Kwei, Chair, and Paul Meyer (MD); Debra Judy, Vice Chair (CO); William Rodgers (AL); Kristen Finau, Kathy McGill, Randy Pipal, Weston Trexler, and Fernanda Vallejo (ID); Michelle Baldock (IL); Alex Peck (IN); LeAnn Crow, Chris Hollenbeck, Tate Flott, and Brenda Johnson (KS); Judith Watters (ME); Candace Gergen, Gregory Maus, and Sherri Mortensen-Brown (MN); Carrie Couch, Amy Hoyt, and Jo LeDuc, (MO); Cuc Nguyen, Mike Rhoads, and Rebecca Ross (OK); Gretchen Brodkorb and Jill Kruger (SD); Brian Hoffmeister, Bill Huddleston, Scott McAnally, Jennifer Ramcharan, and Vickie Trice (TN); and Eric Cormany, Darcy Paskey, Jennifer Stegall, and Julie Walsh (WI). Also participating was: Patrick Smock (RI).

1. <u>Discussed "Frequently Asked Questions About Health Care Reform"</u>

Ms. Kwei said the NAIC's Communications Department created branded versions of the claims guides the Subgroup previously approved, and they are available on the NAIC website. She thanked the Subgroup members who contributed edits to "Frequently Asked Questions About Health Care Reform," as well as Brenda J. Cude (University of Georgia) for reviewing the document. She said Ms. Cude had two outstanding questions about the document. The Subgroup discussed whether the use of the term "excepted benefits" was clear, and it decided it is an appropriate term because the document is intended for state insurance regulators. The second question was regarding the term "applicable large employer." The Subgroup discussed whether all large employers are applicable large employers and how often department of insurance (DOI) staff are called to respond to questions about them. It considered adding a link to Internal Revenue Service (IRS) information or adding an additional question to the document that defines "applicable large employer."

Ms. Kwei asked whether Subgroup members or interested parties had other comments or edits on "Frequently Asked Questions About Health Care Reform," and no one offered any. The Subgroup decided to conduct a vote to approve "Frequently Asked Questions About Health Care Reform" by email.

2. Discussed a Consumer Brief on Balance Billing

Ms. Kwei brought up balance billing and the federal No Surprises Act (NSA). She said previous Subgroup discussions have concluded that there is not yet enough information available to develop a useful document for consumers. She said the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee discussed overall education on the NSA, including materials targeted at consumers, insurers, and providers.

Ms. Kwei asked if any states have been working on consumer information on either state or federal balance billing protections and whether the Subgroup could offer any helpful assistance. No members or interested parties made suggestions.

Ms. Kwei said the Committee is working on a template that state DOIs could use to educate providers on the coming effective date of the NSA. She suggested that the Subgroup could develop a similar template that states could use for consumers. Ms. Cude said consumers are expected to have many questions about the NSA protections, so materials would be helpful.

Ms. Kwei suggested that the Subgroup develop a very simple document on balance billing, including scenarios of what could happen and what consumers can do to respond to certain situations. Ms. Cude said documents should help consumers apply knowledge, not just provide definitions. Subgroup members agreed that a scenario-based approach would be helpful. Kris Hathaway (America's Health Insurance Plans—AHIP) said AHIP has developed a one-pager on balance billing protections, and she said she would share it.

The Subgroup decided that it should develop draft materials by late November, circulate them, and aim to finalize materials by mid-December. The materials would be for consumer use, not targeted to insurance department staff.

Having no further business, the Consumer Information (B) Subgroup adjourned.

Con Info 10.14.21 Min

Draft: 8/30/21

Consumer Information (B) Subgroup Virtual Meeting August 24, 2021

The Consumer Information (B) Subgroup of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee met Aug. 24, 2021. The following Subgroup members participated: Mary Kwei, Chair, and Paul Meyer (MD); Debra Judy, Vice Chair (CO); Yada Horace, William Rodgers, and Anthony L. Williams (AL); Kathy McGill, Randy Pipal, and Weston Trexler (ID); Ryan Gillespie (IL); Jenifer Groth (IN); LeAnn Crow, Tate Flott, and Tom Treacy (KS); Judith Watters (ME); Carrie Couch, Amy Hoyt, Jo LeDuc, Jessica Schrimpf, and Michelle Vickers (MO); Tracy Biehn and Kathy Shortt (NC); Martin Swanson (NE); Landon Hubbart and Rebecca Ross (OK); David Buono and Elizabeth Hart (PA); Candy Holbrook and Jill Kruger (SD); Bill Huddleston and Scott McAnally (TN); Heidi Clausen and Jaakob Sundberg (UT); and Diane Dambach, Christina Keely, Darcy Paskey, and Jennifer Stegall (WI). Also participating was: Jana Jarret (OH).

1. Adopted Consumer Guides on the Claims Process

Ms. Kwei said the consumer guides are intended to stand on their own, but they also cover the entire claims process from filing a claim to external appeals. She said edits had been incorporated from Brenda J. Cude (University of Georgia) and Subgroup members.

Ms. Watters made a motion, seconded by Ms. Kruger, to adopt the consumer guides. The motion passed unanimously.

Ms. Kwei said that the guides would be emailed and posted to the Subgroup's website and that states are free to add their own content.

2. Heard a Presentation on Consumer Group Perspectives on Barriers to Insurance

Ms. Kwei said consumer representatives had requested time to share the results of a survey.

Ms. Cude said the survey was conducted due to the NAIC's attention to diversity and to inform the work of state insurance regulators. She said it was funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF), and its purpose was to gather information on challenges to access and identify any systemic discrimination. She said it was an online survey of state, local, and regional grassroots, nonprofit, and community organizations with information across different lines of insurance, including health.

Harry Ting (Health Care Consumer Advocate) explained survey results that show the most pressing health insurance issues for constituents of the surveyed organizations, including unaffordability and difficulty of understanding coverage and costs. He also shared results on where consumers get information about insurance, which included family and friends, as well as community organizations at the top, followed by internet searches, agents and brokers, and TV and radio. He said consumer groups reported little interaction with state insurance departments. He said it would be more impactful for state insurance departments to distribute information through community organizations in addition to the departments' websites and social media. He said the Subgroup should consider adding to its 2022 charges completion of a survey on best practices by state insurance departments in communicating with consumers. Ms. Cude added that information could also be distributed via programs like income tax assistance. She said insurance department public information officers (PIOs) and other stakeholders may not be aware of materials on the Subgroup's website.

Ms. Judy asked about what difficulties consumers have in understanding coverage. Ms. Cude said further conversations with community organizations would be helpful since they perceive that information is not understandable. Mr. Ting said few organizations felt their constituents check insurance department websites and that presentations to the groups would be beneficial. Ms. Kwei said Maryland had made or planned presentations to groups representing communities like LGBTQ individuals or rural residents.

Bonnie Burns (California Health Advocates) said consumer understanding of insurance terms is low. Mr. Ting said community organizations can be helpful in walking through concepts and definitions, and Ms. Cude said prepared content can help in

improving understanding. Ms. Burns and Mr. Ting discussed the value of using employers, State Health Insurance Assistance Program (SHIP) counselors, and unemployment assistance staff in reaching consumers who need health insurance information.

Mr. Ting asked for reactions to the suggestion of new charges for a survey of best practices in consumer information. Ms. Watters suggested looking at entities external to state insurance departments as well. Ms. Cude said part of surveying state insurance departments could be asking about other agencies in their states or outside groups that do consumer communication well.

Ms. Ross said the Oklahoma Insurance Department has a section on its website with health options for the unemployed, including videos and updated information.

3. Discussed Future Work Products for the Subgroup

Ms. Kwei said the Subgroup has been waiting for further federal guidance on the federal No Surprises Act (NSA) before producing a guide on balance billing and asked for input on whether to move forward or continue to wait. Ms. Kruger said she is concerned that too little information is available. Ms. Judy said any document would have to be high-level because of differing state laws. Ms. Cude said a basic document with definitions and examples would be helpful. Ms. Judy said states with balance billing laws may already have that information available, so the Subgroup should build on what exists.

Ms. Kwei said the Subgroup traditionally updates its *Frequently Asked Questions About Health Care Reform* document by the beginning of Open Enrollment, coming on Nov. 1. She asked how the Subgroup should proceed this year, given the frequently asked questions (FAQ) addendum produced earlier in the year. Ms. Watters said the Beyond the Basics website has some updated information. The Subgroup discussed the extent of updates that are needed. Ms. Judy said the FAQ updates should take precedence over a guide on balance billing. Ms. Kwei suggested that Subgroup members could take sections of the FAQ, review them, and make suggested updates.

Ms. Cude said some links on the Subgroup website do not work and asked whether content on the NAIC's consumer website is compatible with the Subgroup's work.

Having no further business, the Consumer Information (B) Subgroup adjourned.

Con Info 8.24.21 Min

Draft: 12/21/21

Health Innovations (B) Working Group San Diego, California December 11, 2021

The Health Innovations (B) Working Group of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee met in San Diego, CA, Dec. 11, 2021. The following Working Group members participated: Andrew R. Stolfi, Chair, and TK Keen (OR); Laura Arp, Co-Vice Chair, and Martin Swanson (NE); Nathan Houdek and Jennifer Stegall, Co-Vice Chairs (WI); Andria Seip (IA); Julie Holmes (KS); Robert Wake (ME); Cynthia Amman (MO); Jon Godfread (ND); Maureen Belanger (NH); Paige Duhamel (NM); David Buono and Shannen Logue (PA); Chris Herrick (TX); Tanji J. Northrup (UT); Molly Nollette (WA); and Joylynn Fix (WV). Also participating were: Lori K. Wing-Heier (AK); David Altmaier and Chris Struk (FL); Weston Trexler (ID); Stephanie McGee (NV); and Glen Mulready (OK).

1. Heard a Presentation on Health Plan Efforts to Address Health Disparities

Commissioner Stolfi reviewed the changes the Working Group received from the Special (EX) Committee on Race and Insurance. He said the Working Group plans to evaluate existing research on the health disparities impacts of telehealth and alternative payment models and hear from stakeholders on these topics.

Dr. John Lumpkin (Blue Cross and Blue Shield of North Carolina—BCBS NC) described his organization's work to develop a health equity index score. He shared a statement from BCBS NC that says, "[n]o community can truly be healthy until racism no longer exists." He said North Carolina counties can be divided into tiers based on their economic distress. He said a health equity index can provide accountability to measure what works. He said BCBS NC's index measures both racial and economic disparities and currently shows a summary score for overall equity of 87%. He said the index score would be used to support BCBS NC's priorities of improved data on race, ethnicity, and language; improve maternal care; increase behavioral health access; and increase immunizations and wellness visits. He described an example of work to improve maternal health, particularly for Black Americans.

Commissioner Stolfi asked how other states can develop similar health equity index scores. Dr. Lumpkin said health insurance plans cannot do it alone, and states should work with a range of stakeholders to develop coordinated measures. Commissioner Stolfi asked what strategies BCBS NC has used to collect data. Dr. Lumpkin said the biggest challenge in developing the index was that race and ethnicity data are not readily available. He said some data is self-reported by enrollees, and other data is calculated, but the best data is reported by consumers. Commissioner Stolfi asked what state insurance regulators can do to support industry efforts to reduce health disparities. Dr. Lumpkin said there must be an open partnership between state insurance regulators and regulated plans.

Dr. Darrell Gray (Anthem) presented on the company's efforts to improve health equity. He said Anthem has an integrated approach to whole health that includes physical, behavioral, social, and pharmacy health and incorporates consumers, communities, and associates. He described the difference between equality and equity, and he said Anthem's approach to equity is data-driven, inclusive, and nimble. He stressed the importance of addressing a variety of needs, including upstream (poverty, racism, and discrimination), midstream (housing, transportation, and violence), and downstream (chronic disease, poor nutrition, and poor mental health). He said Anthem is working to develop a Whole Health Index that includes measures of global health, social drivers, and clinical quality. He described three steps for identifying social needs, coordinating social care, and creating social interventions. He said health-related social needs contribute to 70–80% of clinical outcomes, while clinical care contributes only 20%.

Ms. Seip asked in what markets Anthem is applying its social interventions. Dr. Gray said the company's goal is to deploy them across all public and private markets in which it operates. Mr. Houdek asked what length of time the company expects to move from the first step of identifying social needs to the third step of creating social interventions. Dr. Gray said it varies greatly by the type of need, the population, and the insurance market being served. Commissioner Stolfi asked how state insurance regulators can support industry efforts to reduce health disparities. Dr. Gray said assisting with data definition and collection efforts would be helpful since the company does not have complete self-reported data on race and ethnicity or sexual orientation and gender identity. He said New York has been able to get better data on race and ethnicity in its individual market through updates to collection practices in its state-based exchange.

2. Heard a Presentation on the Health Disparities Impacts of Telehealth and Alternative Payment Models

Kelly Edmiston (NAIC) presented the findings of research he conducted with the Center for Insurance Policy and Research (CIPR) colleagues on the health disparities impacts of the rise in telehealth services and the move to alternative payment models. He said the key take-away is that both telehealth and alternative payment models have the potential to improve health and reduce disparities, but they must evolve to do so because they are not there yet. He said prior to the pandemic, the share of claims delivered through telehealth was minimal, grew enormously early in the pandemic, and has since declined but not to pre-pandemic levels. He said telehealth can provide greater access to culturally competent care based on language, race, or gender. He said telehealth is especially effective for chronic conditions, which disproportionately affect vulnerable populations. He said the potential of telehealth is limited by restricted access to broadband connections. He said telehealth requires significant upfront costs, and uncertainty in payment policies can limit needed investments.

Mr. Edmiston said alternative payment models seek to reduce the incentive to overtreat and the disincentive to treat underserved populations, which occurs because underserved or vulnerable populations may need more low-margin care. He said value-based payment models are intended to reduce the cost of care without reducing quality or improve quality without increasing cost. He said research has not shown value-based payments to be effective in reducing disparities, despite the potential to do so. He said models can include social risk factors, but they are not currently sophisticated enough due to data limitations.

Mr. Keen asked whether any single telehealth technology platform has emerged and whether it allows medical records to be easily exchanged between patients and providers. Mr. Edmiston said the fast adoption of electronic health records is a good sign for telehealth. He said there are multiple models that exist for telehealth, and some have higher sales than others. He said basic digital literacy is more important than the technology used. Ms. Seip asked whether alternative payment models that incorporate social determinants of health have better outcomes than those that do not. Mr. Edmiston said research on Medicare Advantage showed small effects of accountable care organizations overall, and the measurement of social determinants is not adequate yet to reach a conclusion. Mr. Trexler asked whether payment parity rules are related to the needed investments in telehealth. Mr. Edmiston said some states have added parity requirements since the pandemic, and they may be temporary. He said this may limit providers' willingness to make investments. Mr. Trexler asked whether telehealth could result in lower health care costs overall. Mr. Edmiston said telehealth use has leveled off in the last year and is likely here to stay. Mr. Wake said telehealth is different from in-person health care. He said Maine imposed temporary payment parity during the pandemic because telehealth needed to substitute for in-person care, but it does not always need to be a substitute. He said in cases where different services are provided through telehealth, payment parity is not appropriate because it is one-size-fits-all. He said telehealth providers need equity in payments, not equality. Ms. Arp asked about the age distribution of patients who use telehealth. Mr. Edmiston said consumers who use telehealth tend to be older than those who do not, and non-white populations are less likely to use it. He said urban consumers are more likely to use it, potentially due to a lack of broadband access in rural areas. Ms. Arp said state insurance regulators could look at telehealth as a bonus, requiring in-person networks to be adequate while offering access to more culturally competent or specialized providers through telehealth.

3. Discussed Other Matters

Commissioner Stolfi said NAIC staff would ask the Working Group what questions the presentations raised and how else members would like to dig into the issues highlighted. In addition, NAIC staff would ask members how they want to move toward developing recommendations related to race and insurance work.

Having no further business, the Health Innovations (B) Working Group adjourned.

HInnMin12.11.21

Draft: 11/15/21

Health Innovations (B) Working Group Virtual Meeting November 2, 2021

The Health Innovations (B) Working Group of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee met Nov. 2, 2021. The following Working Group members participated: Andrew R. Stolfi, Chair, TK Keen, and Cassie Soucy (OR); Laura Arp, Co-Vice Chair (NE); Nathan Houdek and Jennifer Stegall, Co-Vice Chairs, Barbara Belling, Diane Dambach, Mark Prodoehl, Rebecca Rebholz, Julie Walsh, and Richard Wicka (WI); Howard Liebers (DC); Andria Seip and Cynthia Banks Radke (IA); Meghann Leaird and Scott Shover (IN); Craig Van Aalst, LeAnn Crow, Julie Holmes, Brenda Johnson, and Tate Flott (KS); Renee Campbell, Karen Dennis, and Stephanie Francis (MI); Cam Jenkins, Andrew Kleinendorst, and Gregory Maus (MN); Chris Murrah, Amy Hoyt, and Jessica Schrimpf (MO); Chrystal Bartuska and Angie Voegele (ND); Michelle Heaton (NH); Philip Gennace (NJ); Colin Baillio, Sahar Hassanin, Bogdanka Kurahovic, and Viara Ianakieva (NM); Mark Garratt (NV); Jessica K. Altman, Katie Dzurec, Katie Merritt, and Sandra L. Ykema (PA); Rachel Bowden, Valerie Brown, Essi Eargle, Ryan Jaffe, R. Michael Markham, and Michael Nored (TX); Heidi Clausen, Tanji J. Northrup, and Jaakob Sundberg (UT); and Jane Beyer, Rory Paine-Donovan, and Molly Nollette (WA).

1. Heard a Presentation on Using State Rate Review Authority to Limit Premium Growth

Commissioner Stolfi said states have a number of tools to address health insurance prices and premium affordability. He introduced Professor Erin Fuse Brown of Georgia State University, who wrote a toolkit on using rate review to address premium affordability. Professor Fuse Brown said the toolkit is intended to help other states follow a model that Rhode Island employed to limit growth in health insurance premiums.

She said the main determinant of health care prices is consolidation and the market power of providers, not utilization or health status. She said hospital costs can be limited by using insurance rate review authority, even if it is a circuitous route for doing so. She explained that Rhode Island's affordability standard capped increases in hospital rates, which reduced growth in inpatient spending and total spending. She said steps could employ a number of steps to follow Rhode Island's approach: assess existing authority, pass revised rate review authority, and adopt regulations to implement new standards. She said statutory language should give the insurance commissioner authority to protect the consumers and the public interest. She suggested that regulations could be used to establish an affordability standard which could be tied to overall inflation and potentially split between inpatient and outpatient services.

She acknowledged that enhanced affordability review requires greater resources from insurance departments. She said that hospital prices are a reasonable place to start that helps to avoid taking on the entire market for health care services. She said that using one affordability standard does not address redistributing resources to provide greater revenue to critical access hospitals, rural hospitals, or others the state wants to support.

Commissioner Stolfi asked how states can enforce limits to hospital rates when insurance regulators have authority over insurers, but not hospitals directly. Professor Fuse Brown said that an affordability standard in law gives insurers a stronger position in negotiations with hospitals. Eric Ellsworth (Consumer Checkbook) asked how the standard could be adjusted for critical access or rural hospitals. Professor Fuse Brown said that a waiver process or other flexibility could be used to address these types of hospitals, but doing so can create political difficulty. Commissioner Altman asked about the impact of implementing an affordability standard only in the individual and small group markets. Professor Fuse Brown said it may be worth starting in these markets and there may be positive spill-overs to the large group market if the same contracts are used across markets.

2. Heard a Presentation on State Policy Considerations with Enhanced Premium Tax Credits

Commissioner Stolfi introduced Jason Levitis and Daniel Meuse (State Health and Value Strategies) to discuss how the larger premium tax credits affect premium affordability and choices states have in responding.

Mr. Meuse said the temporary tax credit changes change the calculus for state efforts to reduce the base level of premiums. He said the Build Back Better Act would extent those credits through 2025. He emphasized the importance of building flexibility

into state policies so they can work if the enhanced credits stay in place or if they go away. He said some states provided their own subsidies prior to the availability of enhanced federal subsidies. He explained how federal subsidies have been enhanced, increasing the value of the subsidies and making them available to many people who were previous ineligible.

Mr. Levitis described how the Build Back Better Act would extend the enhanced subsidies for three additional years and make other changes. He said continued uncertainty is likely, particularly because the enhanced subsidies would not be made permanent. He said states do not need to refrain from action due to the uncertainty. He reviewed several policy options. He said additional state subsidies are no longer as helpful. He said cost sharing assistance is more valuable for enrollees. He said the family glitch could be addressed through federal administrative action. He said states could target subsidies for younger consumers or undocumented residents. He said to deal with uncertainty and changing circumstances, states can provide administrative authority for state regulators or a state-based marketplace to set affordability parameters year by year.

Mr. Meuse said states may want to shift away from premium reduction and toward plan generosity, stronger networks, and higher actuarial value within allowable limits. He said enhanced tax credits reduce concerns with Section 1332 waiver deficit neutrality requirements and increase the funds available. He said states with existing reinsurance programs are getting greater funding, but may not be impacting consumers as much as they did previously.

Mr. Levitis said states can make use of facilitated enrollment and greater outreach with or without enhanced premium subsidies.

3. Discussed Work on Race and Insurance

Commissioner Stolfi asked members and interested parties for input on presentations for the Working Group's session at the Fall National Meeting. He said the session would focus on the Working Group's charges from the Special Committee on Race and Insurance, particularly around telehealth, alternative payment models, and their impacts on health disparities.

Having no further business, the Health Innovations (B) Working Group adjourned.

HInnMin11.2

Draft: 11/16/21

Adopted by the Executive (EX) Committee and Plenary, Dec. 16, 2021

Adopted by the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee, Dec. 15, 2021

2022 Proposed Charges

HEALTH INSURANCE AND MANAGED CARE (B) COMMITTEE

The mission of the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee is to consider issues relating to all aspects of health insurance.

Ongoing Support of NAIC Programs, Products or Services

1. The Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee will:

- A. Respond to inquiries from the U.S. Congress (Congress), the White House, and federal agencies; analyze policy implications and their effect on the states of proposed and enacted federal legislation and regulations; and communicate the NAIC's position through letters and testimony, when requested.
- B. Monitor the activities of the Health Actuarial (B) Task Force.
- C. Monitor the activities of the Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force.
- D. Monitor the activities of the Senior Issues (B) Task Force.
- E. Serve as the official liaison between the NAIC and the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (Joint Commission), the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), and the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission (URAC).
- F. Examine factors that contribute to rising health care costs and insurance premiums. Review state initiatives to address cost drivers.
- G. Coordinate with appropriate Market Regulation and Consumer Affairs (D) Committee groups, as necessary, on health benefit plan and producer enforcement issues.
- H. Coordinate with the Market Regulation and Consumer Affairs (D) Committee, as necessary, to collect uniform data and monitor market conduct trends on plans that are not regulated under the federal Affordable Care Act (ACA), including short-term, limited-duration (STLD) insurance, association health plans (AHPs), and packaged indemnity health products.

2. The Consumer Information (B) Subgroup will:

- A. Develop information or resources, as needed, that would be helpful to state insurance regulators and others in assisting consumers to better understand health insurance.
- B. Review NAIC publications that touch on health insurance to determine if they need updating. If updates are needed, suggest specific revisions to the appropriate NAIC group or NAIC division to make the changes.

3. The **Health Innovations (B) Working Group** will:

- A. Gather and share information, best practices, experience, and data to inform and support health innovation at the state and national levels, including, but not limited to, state flexibility options through the ACA and other health insurance-related policy initiatives.
- B. Discuss state innovations related to health care—i.e., access, insurance plan designs, underlying medical and prescription drug costs, stability for health care and insurance as a whole, health insurer and provider consolidation or competition, the use of data in regulatory and policy decision-making, and health care delivery and financing models—to achieve better patient outcomes and lower spending trends.
- C. Explore sources and methods for state insurance regulators to obtain data to inform health reform initiatives.
- D. Disseminate materials and reports, via the NAIC, to the states and the U.S. territories wishing to utilize the information gathered by the Working Group.
- E. Take up other matters as directed by the Health Insurance and Managed Care (B) Committee.

NAIC Support Staff: Jolie H. Matthews/Brian R. Webb/Jennifer R. Cook

B Committee 2022 Proposed Charges